Statistics Surveys Vol. 13 (2019) 52–118 ISSN: 1935-7516 https://doi.org/10.1214/19-SS123

Halfspace depth and floating body

Stanislav Nagy*

Charles University, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics, Department of Probability and Math. Statistics, Prague, Czech Republic e-mail: nagy@karlin.mff.cuni.cz

Carsten Schütt

Universität Kiel, Mathematisches Seminar, Germany e-mail: schuett@math.uni-kiel.de

and

Elisabeth M. Werner[†]

Case Western Reserve University, Department of Mathematics, Applied Mathematics and Statistics, Cleveland, United States e-mail: elisabeth.werner@case.edu

Abstract: Little known relations of the renown concept of the halfspace depth for multivariate data with notions from convex and affine geometry are discussed. Maximum halfspace depth may be regarded as a measure of symmetry for random vectors. As such, the maximum depth stands as a generalization of a measure of symmetry for convex sets, well studied in geometry. Under a mild assumption, the upper level sets of the halfspace depth coincide with the convex floating bodies of measures used in the definition of the affine surface area for convex bodies in Euclidean spaces. These connections enable us to partially resolve some persistent open problems regarding theoretical properties of the depth.

MSC 2010 subject classifications: 62H05, 52A20, 62G35, 62H11, 62H99. Keywords and phrases: Floating body, halfspace depth, measures of symmetry, statistical depth, Tukey depth.

Received September 2018.

Contents

1	Intro	$\operatorname{pduction}$	53
2	Moti	ivation and background	54
3	Data	a depth: Notation and essential properties $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	30
	3.1	Statistical depth for multivariate data	31
	3.2	Properties of the halfspace depth	62

*Supported by the grant 19-16097Y of the Czech Science Foundation, and by the PRIMUS/17/SCI/3 project of Charles University.

[†]Partially supported by NSF grant DMS-1504701.

		3.2.1	Affine invariance		
		3.2.2	Quasi-concavity		
		3.2.3	Maximality at the center		
		3.2.4	Vanishing at infinity		
		3.2.5	Continuity of the depth		
		3.2.6	Continuity of the central regions		
		3.2.7	Consistency, robustness and other statistical properties . 68		
4	Description at the center: The Winternitz measure of symmetry				
	4.1 Maximal depth of a point				
	4.2	Centra	al and halfspace symmetry: Funk's theorem		
	4.3 Measures of symmetry				
		4.3.1	The ray basis theorem		
		4.3.2	Minimality and stability		
	4.4	Affine	invariant points		
5	Des	cription	at the boundary: Convex floating bodies		
	5.1	Curvat	ture of convex bodies		
	5.2	Floatin	ng body and convex floating body		
	5.3	Affine	surface area		
	5.4	L_p -affi	ne surface area		
	5.5	Floatii	ng measures		
	5.6	Affine	surface areas for log-concave measures		
	5.7	5.7 Applications of affine surface area: Approximation of convex bo-			
		dies by	y polytopes		
		5.7.1	Best and random approximation		
		5.7.2	The floating body algorithm		
6	3 Floating bodies of measures				
		6.0.1	Proposition 12 for measures		
		6.0.2	Proposition 13 for measures $\dots \dots 96$		
		6.0.3	Propositions 14 and 15 for measures		
	6.1	Applic	cation: Multivariate extremes and depth		
7	Mahalanobis ellipsoids and the halfspace depth				
8	Characterization of distributions 10				
	8.1	Charao	cterization theorem of Kong and Zuo (2010) 103		
	8.2	Charao	cterization theorem of Hassairi and Regaieg (2008) 103		
	8.3	Homot	thety conjecture $\ldots \ldots 104$		
9	O Conclusions and further perspectives				
	9.1 Depth in non-linear spaces				
	9.2	Depth	for infinite-dimensional data		
	9.3	Centro	bid body and simplicial volume depth $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 106$		
Re	eferen				

1. Introduction

Halfspace depth and floating body are the same concept. The first is extensively studied in nonparametric statistics, the second is of great importance in convex

geometry. Until recently, the convex geometry community has not been aware of the work on data depth, and not too many researchers from the statistics community were familiar with the work on floating bodies. Of course, the motivation and the goals in both fields are different, and even their philosophies are not the same. Nonetheless, there is an abundance of results common to both directions of research. We want to explore what is common to both fields, what is known and what is not known — to build a bridge between the two disciplines of mathematics, and link these two separate worlds.

In nonparametric statistics, data depth is a generalization of order statistics and ranks to multivariate random variables. One of its aims is, for a multivariate probability distribution, to devise a distribution-specific ranking of points in the sample space. In particular, depth allows to distinguish points that fit the overall pattern of the distribution, from measurement errors and other outliers. More generally, depth is a tool that enables efficient description, visualization, and nonparametric statistical inference for multivariate data.

In convex geometry, the concept of floating body was used, among other things, to introduce the affine surface area to all convex bodies. The associated affine isoperimetric inequality is much stronger than the classical isoperimetric inequality. It provides solutions to many problems where ellipsoids are extrema.

2. Motivation and background

In classical statistics of univariate data it is well known that the ordering of data points and the corresponding rank statistics constitute powerful statistical tools, valid under very broad sets of assumptions. The median, for instance, is a rather efficient, robust, affine equivariant location estimator. Quantiles are invaluable in both visualization and inference. Rank tests provide versatile analogues to the traditional testing procedures, and unlike many standard parametric statistical tests, work under minimal assumptions imposed on the data.

In multivariate spaces, however, no natural ordering exists. For d > 1, we are not able to rank points x and y in \mathbb{R}^d according to their magnitude, or tell whether x lies "to the left" of y. Though, for a given dataset, one can still ask how well a point fits into the overall pattern of the observations. If the data concentrate around a focal point, and follow a simple scatter structure, we can say that a point x inside the data cloud is "deeper" inside the mass of the data, than a point y that lies on the outskirts, or outside the data cloud. This notion of multivariate center-outwards ranking is formalized by the idea of data depth. In general, a depth D(x; P) is a function that, given a probability distribution P on \mathbb{R}^d (or an empirical measure that corresponds to a random sample from this distribution), quantifies the centrality (the depth) of a point x with respect to (w.r.t.) the geometry of P. The more x is inside the main bulk of the mass of P, the higher the depth D(x; P). As such, the depth enables us to rank the points of \mathbb{R}^d according to their centrality w.r.t. P, and devise the corresponding depth-rank statistics, or depth-based quantile regions.

Let us illustrate our point by giving two simple examples where the depth plays an instrumental role. In the first one, our search for sensible data ordering



FIG 1. The Hertzsprung-Russell diagram of the Star Cluster CYG OB1. The four giant stars (red points) attract both the sample mean (red triangle), and the sample covariance (represented by the red ellipse). The halfspace depth-based median (brown star), and the depth-based central region containing 25 % of the observations (brown polygon), provide a more appropriate representation of the location and the variability of the main data cloud.

is motivated by the problem to define a multivariate analogue of the median. In the classification task presented afterwards, we stress the importance of general global ranking procedures in data science.

Consider the dataset of 47 bivariate observations taken from [159], displayed in Figure 1. The data correspond to the Hertzsprung-Russell diagram of the stars in the Star Cluster CYG OB1 in the Cygnus constellation. In the scatterplot, the logarithm of the effective temperature at the surface of the star (log.Te) is plotted, against the logarithm of its light intensity (log.light). The majority of the observations follows a common pattern — their data points concentrate in the south-east part of the plot, and appear to be scattered rather regularly. Four stars clearly do not follow that pattern, and could be considered as outliers (the red points in Figure 1). Those are known to be stars of different characteristics (so-called giant stars). Let us determine the location of the random sample. The sample mean (red triangle) is attracted towards the outlying observations, and does not represent the location of the majority of the data appropriately. That is, of course, caused by the fact that the expectation is known to be affected severely by erroneous data, and outliers, i.e., it is not robust. For univariate data, one can opt for the median in such situations. But, what is a median of

a multivariate dataset? Intuitively, the median should capture the location of the majority of observations, and should be little affected by errors, or other anomalies in the data. The median should be a point "deep" inside the data cloud. With the notion of the halfspace depth (the precise definition is given below), we consider the depth median being the point whose depth w.r.t. the random sample is the highest (brown star in Figure 1). The depth median is robust, i.e. it is much less affected by the four giant stars than the mean. It captures the center of the main bulk of data much better then the sample mean. Additionally, let us consider the Mahalanobis ellipse (for precise definition see (6) below) that corresponds to the sample mean, and the sample covariance of our dataset, and contains 25 % of the data points (red ellipse in Figure 1). This ellipse is intended to represent the scatter pattern of the data. As seen in Figure 1, it is also heavily biased towards the anomalous observations. On the other hand, the halfspace depth region that contains (roughly) 25~% of the deepest points (brown polygon), still represents the main modes of variation of the data quite reliably. Thus, both the halfspace median and the inner halfspace depth regions possess the property of robustness against measurement errors and outliers. The idea of robustness is of great importance in statistical inference, and a large body of literature on these topics exists; we mention monographs [76, 83, 122] and the references therein.



FIG 2. Hemophilia data. The group of carriers of Hemophilia A (black points) is to be separated from the group of non-carriers (red points). Left panel: halfspace depth contours of the two groups; right panel: regions where one of the depths dominates the other — a new observation inside the light-gray polygon is classified into the black group, an observation inside the light-red polygon into the red group. Observations outside the polygons remain unclassified.

For our second motivating example, the hemophilia data (available in [149]) are visualized in Figure 2. The dataset consists of bivariate measurements (AHF activity and AHF antigen) taken from blood samples of 75 women, out of whom 45 are known to be hemophilia A carriers (black dots on Figure 2). Our task here is classification — given a new datum with the two measured characteristics, decide whether the new patient is a potential hemophilia A carrier. The literature where problems of this type are studied in statistics is immense. One approach to this problem is to make use of the depth, and the ranking of the

observations. Firstly, compute the depth of the point w.r.t. both random samples, i.e. rank the new data point inside the group of carriers, and the group of non-carriers, respectively. Then, assign the new datum to that group for which it is more typical, reflected by its higher depth. Figure 2 shows the contours of the halfspace depth functions for both random samples (left panel), and the regions where one of the depths is larger than the other (the polygons on the right hand side). A new observation within the light-gray polygon would be assigned into the black cloud of points (carriers); a point inside the light-red polygon is assessed to come from a non-carrier patient¹. This approach, sometimes called the maximum depth classification [62] and its other variants based on the depth such as the depth-depth classifiers [100], turned out be particularly appealing in the past years. Mainly due to their conceptual simplicity, versatility, and good robustness properties, depth-based classification rules have gained great importance over the past decade.

As we saw, data depth introduces ranking and ordering also for multivariate datasets. Other applications of the depth include multivariate extensions of the rank tests, L-statistics (linear combinations of order statistics), and many other nonparametric and robust procedures.

Let us now provide a rigorous definition of the halfspace depth. For $d \ge 1$, a point x in d-dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d , and a probability distribution P on \mathbb{R}^d , the halfspace depth hD of x with respect to P is given by

 $hD(x; P) = \inf \{ P(H^{-}) \colon H \text{ is a hyperplane with } x \in H \},\$

where H^- denotes any of the two closed halfspaces associated with its boundary hyperplane H in \mathbb{R}^d . In other words, the depth hD is given as the smallest probability of a closed halfspace that contains x. Points outside the convex hull of the support of P have zero depth. More generally, any point x with $hD(x; P) < \delta$ can be separated from the main mass of P by a hyperplane cutting away both the point x, and a mass of probability at most δ . Points with rather high depth values can be seen as those lying at the center of the distribution, as no halfspace of small probability can separate them from the rest of P. This way, the depth hD acts as a mapping that orders the sample points in a center-outwards direction, with the ordering given subject to the distribution P.

Note that for a random sample X_1, \ldots, X_n of n points in \mathbb{R}^d , the halfspace depth hD is usually computed with P the empirical measure of the observations, that is w.r.t. the empirical measure P_n that places a point mass of probability 1/n to each observation X_i .

One plausible statistical application of the depth is the possibility to introduce quantiles to multivariate data. Consider, for observations on the real line \mathbb{R} , the central quantile regions given as the intervals bounded by the α -, and

¹Note that there are points that remain unclassified. For instance, points outside both convex hulls of the sample points are not assigned to any of the clusters using our simple classification rule. More advanced depth-based techniques dealing with these problems are available in the literature; see, e.g., [97].

 $(1-\alpha)$ -quantiles of P, for $\alpha \in (0, 1/2]$. A natural multivariate analogue of these sets are the loci of points whose depth exceeds given thresholds. Such sets of points are called the *central regions* of P in \mathbb{R}^d (given by the depth hD). As discussed in Section 3 below, the collection of all central regions of P consists of affine equivariant closed convex sets, monotone in the sense of set inclusion, see also the left panel of Figure 2, or Figure 3 below. For many distributions, the smallest non-empty set in this collection is a singleton — the most central point of \mathbb{R}^d for P. This point is frequently recognized as a generalization of the median to \mathbb{R}^d -valued data.

The earliest contribution in statistics that deals with some form of the halfspace depth is believed to be [86] from 1955. There, a sign test for bivariate data is proposed and examined. Its test statistic takes the form of the depth hD at a single, given point x.

The seminal paper that introduced the depth in the sample case (that is, for datasets) is Tukey [186] from 1975. In that paper, the depth is proposed as a tool that enables efficient visualization of random samples in \mathbb{R}^2 . It is in [186], where the word *depth* is used for the first time. The original formal definition of the halfspace depth for multivariate data can be found in Donoho [44] and Donoho and Gasko [45] (see also [177]).

Starting with the study of Donoho, much research has focused on data depth and related concepts. The prominent, loosely related simplicial depth for multivariate data was defined by Liu [102, 103], building upon the ideas presented in Oja [144]. The zonoid depth, based on the concept of the lift zonoid of a measure, was proposed in [93, 94]. Interestingly, just like floating bodies, also the theory of lift zonoids stands at the border of convex geometry and multivariate statistics; for an extensive study of lift zonoids and the associated depth see the monograph of Mosler [136], and [165, Section 3.5]. The idea of depth was also extended to data in non-linear spaces [177, 106], general metric spaces [35], observations on graphs [178], regression [157], or data taking values in functional spaces [56], and Banach spaces [43].

The general concept of data depth in \mathbb{R}^d was formalized by Zuo and Serfling [196], Dyckerhoff [49], and Serfling [175], see also Mosler [137]. Nowadays, dozens of depth functions and related methods for all types of data can be found in the literature. It is, however, the halfspace depth hD, that is the single most important depth that continues to reappear as the prime representative of this idea.

Apart from statistics, halfspace depth gained considerable attention also in discrete and computational geometry (see [105]). There, the combinatorial nature of the sample version of hD provides a rich source of interesting problems, especially in connection with its computational aspects. For instance, the halfspace medians, i.e. points at which hD is maximized over \mathbb{R}^d , are closely related to the notion of *centerpoints* studied in discrete geometry (see [127, Section 1.4]). For a recent overview of data depth and its links to computational geometry see Rousseeuw and Hubert [158].

A notable article on the properties of the halfspace depth for general (probability) measures is Rousseeuw and Ruts [160]. Several interesting links between the halfspace depth, and some sources outside mathematical statistics are outlined. In [160, Section 8] it is noted that the halfspace depth relates with the voting problem studied in Caplin and Nalebuff [33, 34] in the theory of social choice. Further, it is also observed that some results concerning the maximal depth of a point in \mathbb{R}^d can be found already in Neumann [141], Rado [150], and Grünbaum [70], in the literature concerned with geometric properties of functions and sets.

In the present paper, we pursue this line of research, and point to the remarkable similarity of the notion of halfspace depth, and some concepts used in other fields of mathematics, especially in convex and affine geometry. For $\delta \geq 0$ given, the convex floating body of a (finite) Borel measure P on \mathbb{R}^d is defined as the intersection of all closed halfspaces whose defining hyperplanes cut off sets of P-measure at most δ . Floating bodies are of great importance in convex geometry. It turns out that under a mild assumption on the support of P, the convex floating body of P is the same set as the halfspace depth central region of P of points whose depth is at least δ . Many implications of this observation will be explored in a considerable part of this article.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 3 we introduce the notation, and give a brief overview of some of the most important properties of the halfspace depth. In Section 4 we follow the lead provided by Rousseeuw and Ruts [160], and trace a little known early precursor of the halfspace depth to be the socalled Winternitz measure of symmetry of convex bodies, a functional that dates back at least to Blaschke [17]. In Sections 5 and 6 we examine relations of the halfspace depth with the (convex) floating bodies. As demonstrated, the history of the halfspace depth is much longer than assumed: the earliest predecessors of the depth hD appear to be the floating bodies in \mathbb{R}^d , studied already by Dupin [47] in 1822. Later, floating bodies reappear in mathematics in 1923 in Blaschke [17], in connection with an affine invariant, the affine surface area of convex bodies, and other problems. As discussed in Section 5, the modern notion of the floating body, the convex floating body, defined independently by Bárány and Larman [12] and Schütt and Werner [170], plays a major role for the concept of affine surface area studied in geometry. We present extensions of this notion to log-concave measures and show its importance in questions of approximation of convex bodies by polytopes. It is also discussed in Section 6 that the convex floating body corresponds to the upper level sets of the halfspace depth as indicated above. Using this identity, we provide in Section 7 a surprising bound of the halfspace depth in terms of the Mahalanobis depth. Section 8 is devoted to the distribution-by-depth characterization problem, concerned with finding conditions under which no two probability measures can have the same depth on \mathbb{R}^d . It is shown that two important partial positive results to this problem [78, 91] are both special cases of a more general theorem, conveniently stated in terms of floating bodies of measures. As a corollary, we obtain some new classes of distributions characterized by their depth. Finally, in Section 9 we discuss some extensions of the depth to more exotic data. The survey is completed with a series of open problems relevant to the topics of halfspace depth and floating bodies.

3. Data depth: Notation and essential properties

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathsf{P})$ be the probability space on which all random variables are defined. For a topological space \mathcal{M} , denote by $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})$ the space of all Borel probability distributions on \mathcal{M} , and write $X \sim P$ for a random variable X with distribution $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})$. The support of P is denoted by $\operatorname{Supp}(P) \subseteq \mathcal{M}$. For $n \in \mathbb{N} =$ $\{1, 2, \ldots\}$ and a random sample X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_n from P, let $P_n \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})$ be the associated empirical measure, i.e. the uniform measure supported in the sample points. For $X \sim P$ and $\phi \colon \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ measurable, write $P_{\phi(X)} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})$ for the probability distribution of the transformed random variable $\phi(X)$. This way, $P \equiv P_X$.

The space \mathbb{R}^d is equipped with the Euclidean norm $\|\cdot\|$ and the inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and r > 0,

$$B^{d}(x,r) = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^{d} : \|y - x\| \le r \}$$

is the closed Euclidean ball centered at x with radius r. B^d stands for the unit ball $B^d(0,1)$ and $\mathbb{S}^{d-1} = \partial B^d$ denotes the unit sphere. ∂K stands for the topological boundary of $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. The Lebesgue measure of a measurable set K will be denoted also by $\operatorname{vol}_d(K)$.

A convex body is a convex, compact subset of \mathbb{R}^d with non-empty interior. For $k \in \mathbb{N}$ it is said to have a C^k boundary if its boundary, locally parametrized as a function from \mathbb{R}^{d-1} , is k-times continuously differentiable. We denote the collection of all convex bodies in \mathbb{R}^d by \mathcal{K}^d . For an interior point x_0 of a convex body K define the polar body K^{x_0} of K w.r.t. x_0 by

$$K^{x_0} = \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon \langle y, x - x_0 \rangle \le 1 \text{ for all } x \in K \right\}.$$
(1)

If $0 \in \text{Int}(K)$, the interior of K, we write K° for the polar body (1) of K w.r.t. 0. A star body K is a compact subset of \mathbb{R}^d with the property that there exists $x \in K$ such that the open line segment from x to any point $y \in K$ is contained in the interior of K. The Minkowski addition of $K, L \in \mathcal{K}^d$ is $K + L = \{x + y : x \in K, y \in L\}$. Likewise, for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}, \lambda K = \{\lambda x : x \in K\}$.

We write

$$H_{u,\alpha} = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon \langle z, u \rangle = \alpha \right\} \quad \text{for } u \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}, \alpha \in \mathbb{R},$$

for a hyperplane in \mathbb{R}^d , and denote for $H = H_{u,\alpha}$ the two closed halfspaces bounded by this hyperplane by $H^- = H^-_{u,\alpha}$ and $H^+ = H^+_{u,\alpha}$, respectively. By \mathcal{H} we denote the set of all hyperplanes, and by \mathcal{H}^- the set of all closed halfspaces in \mathbb{R}^d .

We say that the halfspace H^+ supports the set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ if $K \cap H^- \neq \emptyset$ and $K \subseteq H^+$. A hyperplane $H \in \mathcal{H}$ is said to support K if either H^- or H^+ supports K. Recall that the boundary of a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ is C^1 if and only if for any $x \in \partial K$ there exists a unique hyperplane $H \in \mathcal{H}$ that supports K with $x \in H$ [165, Theorem 2.2.4]. For a convex set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, the support function of K is defined as

$$h_K \colon \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R} \colon u \mapsto \sup \left\{ \langle x, u \rangle \colon x \in K \right\}.$$
(2)

The centroid (or the barycenter) of a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is the expectation of a random variable distributed uniformly on K.

3.1. Statistical depth for multivariate data

The first formal definition of the halfspace depth in \mathbb{R}^d for general probability distributions can be found in Donoho [44].

Definition. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. The halfspace depth (or Tukey depth) of x w.r.t. P is defined as

$$hD(x;P) = \inf \left\{ P(H^{-}) \colon H \in \mathcal{H}, x \in H^{-} \right\}.$$
(3)

In (3), the infimum can be equally well taken only over those $H \in \mathcal{H}$ with $x \in H$ [160, Proposition 3].

In the study of the theoretical properties of hD, two regularity conditions imposed on $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ frequently play an important role. The first, a smoothness condition, appears in Dümbgen [46] and Mizera and Volauf [134], and reads

$$P(H) = 0 \text{ for all } H \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(4)

It is trivially satisfied if, for instance, P has a density (w.r.t. the *d*-dimensional Lebesgue measure) in \mathbb{R}^d .

The second requirement concerns the support of P. We say that $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ has contiguous support [134, 91] if there are no two disjoint halfspaces $H_1^-, H_2^- \in \mathcal{H}^-$ such that $P(H_1^-) > 0$ and $P(H_2^-) > 0$, but $P(H_1^-) + P(H_2^-) = 1$. In other words, the support of P cannot be separated by a slab between two parallel hyperplanes.

In Section 7 we demonstrate a surprising relation between the halfspace depth, and another renown depth function that can be found in the literature: the Mahalanobis depth. To this end, let us briefly recall its definition, and some elementary properties.

For any symmetric positive definite matrix $\Sigma \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$, the Mahalanobis distance [119] of two points $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is defined as

$$d_{\Sigma}(x,y) = \sqrt{(x-y)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma^{-1} (x-y)}.$$
 (5)

It is a metric on \mathbb{R}^d . Based on this distance, Liu [104] proposed the following depth function.

Definition. Let $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $E X = \mu$ and $Var X = \Sigma$ is positive definite. The *Mahalanobis depth* of x w.r.t. P is defined as

$$MD(x; P) = (1 + d_{\Sigma}(x, \mu))^{-1}$$

The Mahalanobis depth w.r.t. P takes the maximal value 1 at the expectation of P. Its upper level sets are concentric ellipsoids given, for $\delta \in (0, 1]$, by

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon MD(x; P) \ge \delta\right\} = \left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon \sqrt{\left(x - \mu\right)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma^{-1} \left(x - \mu\right)} \le \frac{1 - \delta}{\delta}\right\}.$$
 (6)

These ellipsoids are also called the *Mahalanobis ellipsoids* of the distribution P. Note that unlike the halfspace depth hD, the Mahalanobis depth MD is not defined for all $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, but rather it is restricted to distributions with finite second moments, and positive definite variance matrices.

3.2. Properties of the halfspace depth

In this section we collect some basic properties of the halfspace depth (3), and of its upper level sets, that will prove to be useful in the sequel.

For any $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, consider the upper level sets of hD

$$P_{\delta} = \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon hD(y; P) \ge \delta \right\} \quad \text{for } \delta \in [0, 1].$$

$$\tag{7}$$

Immediately from the definition we see that the collection of sets P_{δ} , $\delta \in [0, 1]$ is nested, that is decreasing in the sense of set inclusion, and $P_0 = \mathbb{R}^d$. The set P_{δ} is also called the *central region* of P corresponding to $\delta \in [0, 1]$.

Example 1. Let $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be the uniform distribution on the unit ball B^d . The marginal distribution function of the first coordinate of X is given by

$$F_1(s) = \begin{cases} \frac{\Gamma((d+2)/2)}{\Gamma((d+1)/2)\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{-1}^s (1-t^2)^{(d-1)/2} \, \mathrm{d}t & \text{for } s \in (-1,1), \\ 0 & \text{for } s \leq -1, \\ 1 & \text{for } s \geq 1. \end{cases}$$

It is not difficult to see that

$$hD(x; P) = F_1(-||x||)$$
 for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

i.e. the central region P_{δ} of P is a ball with radius $-F_1^{-1}(\delta)$ for $\delta \in [0, 1/2]$ and F_1^{-1} the quantile function corresponding to F_1 . For d = 2 we obtain

$$hD(x;P) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\pi} \left(\arcsin(\|x\|) + \|x\| \sqrt{1 - \|x\|^2} \right) & \text{if } \|x\| \le 1, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

which agrees with Rousseeuw and Ruts [160, Section 5.6]. Uniform distributions on balls are a special case of spherically (and elliptically) symmetric distributions. Such distributions will be treated in Example 2 below.

For the uniform distribution $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ on the unit square $[0, 1]^2$, the halfspace depth and its central regions were computed by Rousseeuw and Ruts [160,

Section 5.4]

$$hD(x;P) = \begin{cases} 2\min\{x_1, 1-x_1\}\min\{x_2, 1-x_2\} & \text{for } x = (x_1, x_2) \in [0, 1]^2, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The expression for the halfspace depth of $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ distributed uniformly on the equilateral triangle can be found in Rousseeuw and Ruts [160, Section 5.3]. Several central regions (7) of the halfspace depth for the latter two distributions centered at their halfspace medians are displayed in Figure 3. Exact expressions for the halfspace depth for the uniform distribution on a simplex, and a (hyper)cube in \mathbb{R}^d are much more involved for d > 2 than for d = 2. They can be obtained from [167, Lemma 1.3 and its proof].



FIG 3. Halfspace depth central regions (7) for $\delta \in \{0.05, 0.15, 0.25, 0.35, 0.45\}$ for the uniform distribution on the unit square (left panel), and an equilateral triangle (right panel). The black dots stand for the halfspace medians of these two distributions. Note that the central region for $\delta = 0.45$ is empty for P uniform on a triangle. In that case we have maximum depth $\Pi(P) = 4/9 < 0.45$.

Example 2. In accordance with Fang, Kotz and Ng [53] we say that the distribution of $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is α -symmetric, $0 < \alpha \leq 2$, if for some continuous function $\phi \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ the characteristic function of the random vector X takes the form

$$\psi_X(t) = \operatorname{E} e^{\mathrm{i}\langle t, X \rangle} = \phi\left(\|t\|_{\alpha} \right) \quad \text{for all } t \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where i is the imaginary unit, and for $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we set $||t||_{\alpha} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^d |t_i|^{\alpha}\right)^{1/\alpha}$ for $0 < \alpha < \infty$, and $||t||_{\infty} = \max_{i=1,\ldots,d} |t_i|$. For $\alpha = 2$ we obtain the collection of all spherically symmetric distributions, i.e. distributions invariant under all orthonormal rotations of the sample space [53, Chapter 2]. For instance, the uniform distribution on the unit ball B^d , the uniform distribution are all spherically symmetric. The multivariate Gaussian distribution with independent Cauchy marginals is 1-symmetric. For $\phi(s) = e^{-s^{\alpha}}$ with $\alpha \in (0, 2]$ we obtain the multivariate symmetric stable laws.

 α -symmetric distributions have been studied by many authors [32, 53, 89]. They are distinguished by the special property that all univariate projections of an α -symmetric measure $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_d) \sim P$ are multiples of the same univariate distribution

$$\langle u, X \rangle \stackrel{d}{=} \| u \|_{\alpha} X_1 \quad \text{for all } u \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $\stackrel{d}{=}$ stands for "is equal in distribution" [53, Theorem 7.1]. This makes it possible to compute the depth $hD(\cdot; P)$ exactly. For an α -symmetric $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$hD(x; P) = \inf_{u \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \mathsf{P}(\langle u, X \rangle \leq \langle u, x \rangle) = \inf_{u \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \mathsf{P}(X_1 \leq \langle u, x \rangle / ||u||_{\alpha})$$

= $F_1(-||x||_{\alpha^*}),$ (8)

where F_1 is the distribution function of X_1 , and

$$\alpha^* = \begin{cases} \alpha/(\alpha - 1) & \text{if } \alpha > 1, \\ \infty & \text{if } \alpha \in (0, 1] \end{cases}$$

is the conjugate exponent to α . The last equality in (8) is due to the (generalized) Hölder inequality (see, e.g., [38, Lemma A.1]). All central regions P_{δ} of an α symmetric distribution are therefore the lower level sets of the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha^*}$. In particular, for all spherically symmetric distributions the central regions are centered balls, and for all $\alpha \leq 1$ the central regions are centered (hyper)-cubes in \mathbb{R}^d . Apart from simple uniform distributions on convex bodies such as those in Example 1 and atomic distributions (see the left panel of Figure 2), α -symmetric distributions (and their affine images) appear to be the only class of probability distributions whose depth hD are we able to evaluate exactly. This was noticed by Massé and Theodorescu [126, Example (C)] and Chen and Tyler [38]. See also Figure 4.

Note that the α -symmetric distributions from Example 2 are for $\alpha \neq 2$ in no direct relation with distributions whose densities take the form $\psi(\|\cdot\|_{\alpha})$ for some fixed function ψ . In relation to the halfspace depth, the latter collection of probability measures was studied in [48], where it was shown that for $\alpha \neq 2$ and ψ decreasing the central regions P_{δ} never coincide with the density level sets of P. For $\alpha = 2$ one obtains, using both approaches, collections of spherically symmetric distributions.

3.2.1. Affine invariance

For a non-singular matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}^d$, consider the affine transformation $T \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d \colon x \mapsto Ax + b$. The depth hD is invariant with respect to T

$$hD(x; P_X) = hD(T(x); P_{T(X)})$$
 for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d, P_X \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

This implies that central regions $P_{\delta} \equiv (P_X)_{\delta}$ are affine equivariant under affine transformations T of full rank, i.e. $T((P_X)_{\delta}) = (P_{T(X)})_{\delta}$ for any $\delta \in [0, 1]$. Due to the affine invariance of hD and Example 2, the central regions P_{δ} of elliptically symmetric distributions (i.e. invertible affine images of spherically symmetric distributions, see [53, Chapter 2]) are concentric ellipsoids with the same center and orientation as the density level sets of P (if the density exists). In particular, this holds true for the central regions of any full-dimensional multivariate Gaussian distribution (see Figure 4).



FIG 4. Left panel: several contours of the density of a bivariate centered Gaussian measure P (thin black lines). For any $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ (brown triangle) the unique hyperplane $H \ni x$ such that $P(H^-) = hD(x; P)$ is the hyperplane (solid brown line) that supports the contour ellipsoid of the density of P passing through x. Thus, the depth central regions P_{δ} with $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$ are all concentric ellipsoids of the same shapes as the density contours. Right panel: several density contours (dashed lines) and the corresponding halfspace depth contours (solid lines) of the bivariate distribution P with independent Cauchy marginals. Since P is 1-symmetric, the central regions P_{δ} are all concentric squares.

3.2.2. Quasi-concavity

The sets P_{δ} are all convex, which means that the mapping hD is quasi-concave in its first argument. Quasi-concavity of hD is essential for the construction of estimators based on the depth, such as the depth-trimmed means.

3.2.3. Maximality at the center

Denote the maximal depth value of a distribution by

$$\Pi(P) = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} hD(x; P) \quad \text{for } P \in \mathcal{P}\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right).$$
(9)

By Rousseeuw and Struyf [161, Lemma 1],

$$\Pi(P) \le \left(1 + \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} P\left(\{x\}\right)\right)/2,$$

and $\Pi(P) \leq 1/2$ for P that satisfies (4). As shown by Rousseeuw and Ruts [160, Proposition 7], for any $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the maximal depth is attained in \mathbb{R}^d . Therefore, it makes sense to define the *halfspace median* (or *depth median*) of P as any point $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$hD(x_P; P) = \Pi(P).$$

The halfspace median is not necessarily unique — consider, for instance, the uniform distribution P on the vertices of a simplex in \mathbb{R}^d , where any point in that simplex is a halfspace median of P. If $M(P) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : hD(x; P) = \Pi(P)\}$ is not a singleton, some authors prefer to define the halfspace median as the barycenter of the region M(P). In this paper, we do not follow that convention, and unless stated otherwise, we call all elements of the set M(P) halfspace medians of P.

In general, the set of all halfspace medians of P can be shown to be nonempty, compact and convex. If (4) is true for P with contiguous support, then by Mizera and Volauf [134, Proposition 7] the halfspace median of P is unique. In any case, the central regions (7) are non-empty if and only if $\delta \in [0, \Pi(P)]$.

If the distribution P is (in some sense) symmetric around a point $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$, it is natural to require that the center of symmetry x_P is the unique halfspace median of P, i.e. the only point such that $\Pi(P) = hD(x_P; P)$.

Definition. The distribution $P \equiv P_X \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is said to be *centrally symmetric* around $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$, if

$$P_{X-x_P} = P_{x_P-X}.$$

P is centrally symmetric, if it is centrally symmetric around some $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

If P is centrally symmetric, the maximal depth value $\Pi(P)$ must be at least 1/2, and this depth is attained only at the center of symmetry x_P . But centrally symmetric distributions are not the only ones for which the maximal depth is at least 1/2. This leads to the following definition, due to Zuo and Serfling [197].

Definition. $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is halfspace symmetric around $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$, if

$$\Pi(P) = hD(x_P; P) \ge 1/2.$$

P is said to be halfspace symmetric, if it is halfspace symmetric around some $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

As discussed in Zuo and Serfling [197], the halfspace symmetry of measures in \mathbb{R}^d is more general than the rather restrictive central symmetry, in the sense that any centrally symmetric distribution is also halfspace symmetric. To see that the converse does not hold true, consider the following example.

Example 3. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ be the uniform distribution concentrated in the vertices $(\pm 1, \pm 1)$ of a centered square in \mathbb{R}^2 . P is halfspace symmetric, and centrally symmetric around $x_P = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^2$. For any $\lambda > 0$, translate the point mass from (1, 1) to (λ, λ) . The resulting distribution P' is then still halfspace symmetric around the origin. Yet, for $\lambda \neq 1$, P' is not centrally symmetric.

Any univariate distribution is halfspace symmetric around its (univariate) median. For a comprehensive discussion on the subject of symmetry of multi-variate probability distributions see Serfling [176].

3.2.4. Vanishing at infinity

Any random vector $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ lives with large probability inside a closed ball of finite diameter. Thus, it is reasonable to ask that also the depth associated to P assigns high values of hD only to points inside (big) closed balls. This property, often called the vanishing at infinity property of hD, can be expressed as

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \sup \left\{ hD(x; P) \colon \|x\| > M \right\} = 0 \quad \text{for all } P \in \mathcal{P}\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right)$$

For the halfspace depth this condition is satisfied (see, for instance, [196, Theorem 2.1]). The central regions (7) are therefore bounded for all $\delta > 0$.

3.2.5. Continuity of the depth

As observed by Donoho and Gasko [45, Lemma 6.1], the halfspace depth is upper semi-continuous in its first argument

$$\limsup_{x \to x_0} hD(x; P) \le hD(x_0; P) \quad \text{for all } P \in \mathcal{P}\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right), x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(10)

By [134, Proposition 1] if (4) holds true for P, then hD is also continuous in x. For the central regions (7) condition (10) means that each P_{δ} is a (convex) closed set for $\delta \in [0, \Pi(P)]$, and compact for $\delta \in (0, \Pi(P)]$ for any $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

3.2.6. Continuity of the central regions

Consider now the set-valued mapping that for $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ given, to $\delta \in (0, \Pi(P))$ assigns its central region (7). This mapping is essential for understanding the properties of the depth, as the level sets of hD are usually of greater interest than individual depth values at fixed points in \mathbb{R}^d . The mapping $\delta \mapsto P_{\delta}$ takes values in the space \mathcal{K}^d of convex bodies in \mathbb{R}^d . That space can be equipped with the Hausdorff distance (see, e.g., [165, Section 1.8])

$$d_H(K,C) = \inf \{ \varepsilon > 0 \colon K \subseteq C_\varepsilon \text{ and } C \subseteq K_\varepsilon \} \quad \text{for } K, C \in \mathcal{K}^d, \tag{11}$$

where K_{ε} is the ε -neighborhood of K,

$$K_{\varepsilon} = K + B^d(0, \varepsilon) = \bigcup_{x \in K} B^d(x, \varepsilon) \text{ for } K \in \mathcal{K}^d \text{ and } \varepsilon > 0.$$

Continuity properties of the map $\delta \mapsto P_{\delta}$ were investigated by several authors. The following result was first stated by Massé and Theodorescu [126, Remark 3.6], and later refined by Mizera and Volauf [134, Theorem 6 and Proposition 7], and Dyckerhoff [50, Theorem 3.2 and Example 4.2]. In a slightly different context, it was also considered by Kong and Mizera [90].

Theorem 1. Let (4) be true for $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with contiguous support. Then the map $\delta \mapsto P_{\delta}$ is continuous in the Hausdorff distance for $\delta \in (0, \Pi(P))$.

3.2.7. Consistency, robustness and other statistical properties

In statistics, the true distribution $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is seldom known. Instead, one usually observes for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ only a random sample X_1, \ldots, X_n of independent random variables with distribution P, and infers the properties of P from the empirical distribution P_n of that sample. As $n \to \infty$, the halfspace depth is universally consistent, which means that for any $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the depth hD based on the empirical distribution P_n (the sample depth) almost surely approaches the true depth evaluated w.r.t. P uniformly over \mathbb{R}^d

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} |hD(x; P_n) - hD(x; P)| \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{a.s.} 0 \text{ for any } P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

This result was first established in Donoho and Gasko [45, p. 1817]. Interestingly, it does not require any properties of the distribution P. For P satisfying (4), it can be strengthened to the form that for any sequence of measures $\{P_{\nu}\}_{\nu=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ weakly convergent to P,

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} |hD(x; P_{\nu}) - hD(x; P)| \xrightarrow[\nu \to \infty]{} 0.$$

This property follows by an argument of Dümbgen [46, Corollary 2] applied to hD, see also [139, Theorem A.3], and is frequently called the uniform qualitative robustness property of hD. Further robustness properties of hD were studied by Romanazzi [155, 156], and Chen and Tyler [37, 38], among others.

Uniform consistency results hold true also for the depth level sets (7). In its full generality, the following result, recently established by Dyckerhoff [50, Theorem 4.5 and Example 4.2], unifies and completes the partial results from [126, 80, 198].

Theorem 2. Let (4) be true for $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with contiguous support. Then for every compact interval $A \subset (0, \Pi(P)]$

$$\sup_{\delta \in A} \mathrm{d}_H \left(P_{\delta}, (P_n)_{\delta} \right) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{a.s.} 0.$$

In Theorem 2, $(P_n)_{\delta}$ stands for the δ -central region (7) of the empirical measure P_n . Further valuable improvements of the statistical theory of the halfspace depth include the derivation of the rates of convergence of the depth and its central regions [87, 29, 28], and distributional asymptotics of these and related quantities [8, 194, 195, 123, 124, 125].

4. Description at the center: The Winternitz measure of symmetry

4.1. Maximal depth of a point

Several results on the maximal depth mapping Π from (9) can be found in literature much earlier than the definition of the halfspace depth (see [160, Sections 3 and 4]). From these references, it appears that the behavior of the maximal depth relates to the degree of concavity of the measure P. Following Borell [19], see also Bobkov [18], let us first provide a rigorous definition of concave probability measures.

Definition. We say that $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is an *s*-concave measure for $-\infty \leq s < \infty$, if

$$P\left(\lambda A + (1-\lambda)B\right) \ge \begin{cases} \min\left\{P(A), P(B)\right\} & \text{for } s = -\infty, \\ P(A)^{\lambda}P(B)^{1-\lambda} & \text{for } s = 0, \\ (\lambda P(A)^s + (1-\lambda)P(B)^s)^{1/s} & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for all non-empty Borel sets $A, B \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\lambda \in [0, 1]$.

As noted by Bobkov [18], if P is not a Dirac measure, then $s \leq 1$. Further, a measure $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is s-concave with $s \leq 1/d$ if and only if P has a density f that is supported on an open convex subset U of \mathbb{R}^d and that is $s_d = s/(1-ds)$ -concave, i.e., for all $x, y \in U$, for all $\lambda \in [0, 1]$,

$$f\left(\lambda x + (1-\lambda)y\right) \ge \begin{cases} \min\left\{f(x), f(y)\right\} & \text{for } s = -\infty, \\ f(x)^{\lambda} f(y)^{1-\lambda} & \text{for } s = 0, \\ (\lambda f(x)^{s_d} + (1-\lambda)f(y)^{s_d})^{\frac{1}{s_d}} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

For s = 0, s-concave measures are also called log-concave measures, and represent a natural generalization of uniform measures on convex bodies. Indeed, any uniform measure on a convex body is log-concave.

We are ready to state a result that summarizes what is known about the maximal depth functional $\Pi(P)$ defined in (9).

Theorem 3. The following inequalities hold true:

(i) For any $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\left(1+\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^d}P\left(\{x\}\right)\right)/2\geq\Pi(P)\geq\frac{1}{d+1}$$

(ii) For $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ uniformly distributed on a convex body,

$$1/2 \ge \Pi(P) \ge \left(\frac{d}{d+1}\right)^d > e^{-1} > 0.367$$

(iii) For an s-concave measure $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $-1 < s \leq 1$,

$$1/2 \ge \Pi(P) \ge \begin{cases} e^{-1} & \text{for } s = 0, \\ \left(\frac{1}{s+1}\right)^{1/s} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(12)

As noted by Grünbaum [70, Section 4], the lower bounds in parts (i) and (ii) are sharp. In part (i) it is enough to take the uniform distribution in the vertices of a simplex in \mathbb{R}^d . For part (ii) one takes the uniform distribution on the simplex in \mathbb{R}^d .

Problem 1. Are the lower bounds in part (iii) of Theorem 3 sharp? That is, does there exist an *s*-concave probability measure P with equality on the right hand side of (12)?

The lower bounds in parts (i) and (ii) of Theorem 3 were proved by Neumann [141] for d = 2. In full generality, part (ii) was proved independently by Grünbaum [70], and Hammer [75]. Part (iii) can be found in Caplin and Nalebuff [34, Proposition 3], see also Bobkov [18, Theorem 5.2]. As discussed by Bobkov [18], the condition s > -1 implies the existence of the expectation E Xof $X \sim P$. Actually, in all three parts of Theorem 3 in the proofs it is shown that hD(E X; P) is never smaller than the given lower bounds.

Problem 2. Is there a non-trivial lower bound for $\Pi(P)$ for all *s*-concave measures with $s \leq -1$?

4.2. Central and halfspace symmetry: Funk's theorem

For part (ii) of Theorem 3, there exists a remarkable converse.

Theorem 4. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be uniformly distributed on a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$. Then P is halfspace symmetric around $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$ if and only if it is centrally symmetric around x_P .

The proof of Theorem 4 was first obtained in 1915 for d = 2 and d = 3 by Funk [59]. In its full generality the result was conjectured, among others, by Grünbaum [72, p. 251], but completely solved only in 1970 in Schneider [163, Satz 4.2] and Schneider [164, Theorem 1.5], see also Falconer [52]. For its modern version, including an extension to star convex bodies $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ see Groemer [66, Section 5.6].

By Theorem 4, the two notions of central and halfspace symmetry from Section 3.2.3 coincide for uniform distributions on (star) convex bodies in \mathbb{R}^d , see also Example 3. This suggests the following problem.

Problem 3. Under which conditions can Theorem 4 be generalized to probability measures?

A partial answer to Problem 3 can be found if one considers the notion of angular symmetry for random vectors, proposed by Liu [102, Section 2].

Definition. The distribution of a random vector $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is said to be *angularly symmetric* around $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$, if the random variables $(X - x_P)/||X - x_P||$ and $-(X - x_P)/||X - x_P||$ are identically distributed. P is angularly symmetric, if it is angularly symmetric around some $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Angular symmetry can be shown to be an intermediate between the rather strong concept of central symmetry, and the halfspace symmetry, considered in Section 3.2.3. Any P that is centrally symmetric around x_P is angularly symmetric around x_P [197, Lemma 2.2], and any P angularly symmetric around x_P is also halfspace symmetric around x_P [197, Lemma 2.4]. None of these implications can be reversed. Though, a partial reverse to the second one was asserted in the statistical literature. For d = 2, Zuo and Serfling [197, Theorem 2.6] in 2000 and Dutta, Ghosh and Chaudhuri [48, Theorem 2] in 2011 independently proved that if P is absolutely continuous besides a possible atom at $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and halfspace symmetric around x_P , then P must be also angularly symmetric around x_P . Rousseeuw and Struyf [161, Theorems 1 and 2] in 2004 gave a complete proof for general $d \in \mathbb{N}$ in the following form.

Theorem 5. The distribution $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is angularly symmetric around $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$ if and only if

$$hD(x_P; P) = (1 + P(\{x_P\}))/2.$$

In particular,

- (i) any P halfspace symmetric around x_P with $P(\{x_P\}) = 0$ is angularly symmetric around x_P , and
- (ii) for any P such that $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} P(\{x\}) = 0$, halfspace symmetry and angular symmetry are equivalent notions.

When P is the uniform distribution on a (centered) convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$, Theorem 5 stands as a generalization of Funk's theorem to probability measures. Indeed, assume that P is halfspace symmetric around the origin $x_P = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Since P is absolutely continuous, by Theorem 5 it is also angularly symmetric around x_P . Because P is uniform, angular symmetry of P implies that the support function h_K from (2) must be an even function on \mathbb{S}^{d-1} , which in turn gives that K must be centrally symmetric around x_P .

Remarkably, Theorems 1 and 2 in Rousseeuw and Struyf [161] were discovered independently of the results in geometry. The proof in [161] makes use of the classical theorem of Cramér and Wold [40] from 1936, closely related to the Fourier transforms of measures. The known proofs of Theorem 4 employ techniques from spherical harmonics, or integral equations. Thus, all known proofs of Theorems 4 and 5 are non-trivial, but have in common the use of harmonic analysis.

4.3. Measures of symmetry

Characterization results like Theorem 4 for convex bodies stimulated much research in convex geometry. Eventually, these efforts led to measures of symmetry for convex sets, comprehensively covered by Grünbaum [72]. A measure of symmetry is a mapping $\mathfrak{S}: \mathcal{K}^d \to [0, 1]$ such that

(i) $\mathfrak{S}(K) = 1$ if and only if K is (centrally) symmetric,

- (ii) $\mathfrak{S}(K) = \mathfrak{S}(T(K))$ for any non-singular affine transformation $T \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, and
- (iii) \mathfrak{S} is continuous on \mathcal{K}^d (equipped with a suitable topology²).

A variant of part (ii) in Theorem 3, that states that for any $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ uniformly distributed on a convex body

$$hD(\mathbf{E}X; P) \ge \left(\frac{d}{d+1}\right)^d,$$

is known since the 1910s as the Winternitz theorem (due to Artur Winternitz, according to [17]). This result gave rise to the following measure of symmetry, which is remarkably close to the halfspace depth.

Definition. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be the uniform distribution on $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$. For $x \in K$ and $H \in \mathcal{H}$ with $x \in H$, let

$$w_K(x; H^-) = \frac{P(H^- \cap K)}{1 - P(H^- \cap K)}$$

and consider $w_K(x) = \min \{ w_K(x; H^-) : H^- \in \mathcal{H}^-, x \in H \}$. The Winternitz measure of symmetry of K is then defined as

$$W(K) = \max\left\{w_K(x) \colon x \in K\right\}.$$

The measure of symmetry W(K) was considered by many authors. For a historical account and the theoretical background on measures of symmetry see the seminal paper of Grünbaum [72, Section 6.2]. For a modern treatment of the topic see Toth [184].

Obviously, for $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$, the Winternitz measure of symmetry is equivalent with the maximal depth (9) attained w.r.t. the uniform measure P on K

$$\Pi(P) = \frac{W(K)}{1 + W(K)}$$

The function $w_K \colon K \to [0,\infty]$ used in the definition of W(K) links directly to hD via

$$hD(x;P) = \frac{w_K(x)}{1+w_K(x)}.$$

For w_K , it was noted already by Grünbaum [72] in 1963 that its upper level sets are convex, and that its maximal value is always attained in K (cf. Sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3 above).

Connections of the depth hD with results on partitions of convex bodies (Theorem 3 above) have already been noted by Rousseeuw and Ruts [160]. Though, as far as we know, no links between the measures of symmetry for convex bodies and the halfspace depth have yet been established in the statistical literature.

²For details on possible choices of topology see Grünbaum [72].

In the other direction, some notions of depth can be found in the literature on the geometry of convex bodies. For instance, in Bose et al. [24] the "depth" for a convex body K is defined as the halfspace depth (3) of the associated uniform distribution, in connection with a generalized version of the Winternitz theorem. Nonetheless, precise links between the respective fields of mathematics appear to be still lacking.

4.3.1. The ray basis theorem

For $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we say that a halfspace $H^- \in \mathcal{H}^-$ is minimal at x if $x \in H$ and $P(H^-) = hD(x; P)$. H is then called a minimal hyperplane of x. From the definition of the minimal halfspace it is easy to see that the following holds.

Proposition 6. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ have contiguous support and let $H^- \in \mathcal{H}^-$ be minimal at $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $hD(x; P) = \delta$. Then the halfspace H^+ supports P_{δ} .

An interesting characterization of the halfspace median of a measure $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ in terms of minimal halfspaces was observed by Donoho and Gasko [45, pp. 1818–1819] in 1992 and Rousseeuw and Ruts [160, Propositions 8 and 12] in 1999. For P absolutely continuous, x is a halfspace median of P if and only if the union of the collection of minimal halfspaces at x is \mathbb{R}^d . In Rousseeuw and Ruts [160], this result is dubbed the ray basis theorem.

Theorem 7. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be such that the union of the collection of minimal halfspaces at x is \mathbb{R}^d . Then x is a halfspace median of P.

Assume that P satisfies (4), and let $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be a halfspace median of P. Then there exists a collection of minimal halfspaces at x of cardinality at most d + 1whose union is \mathbb{R}^d .

The smoothness condition (4) is important in Theorem 7. As noted by Massé [124, Example 4.3] it is possible to construct distributions $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, that violate (4), with a unique minimal halfspace at their halfspace median.

For $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ uniformly distributed on a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$, a result similar to Theorem 7 was stated in Grünbaum [72, p. 251] in 1963 for the Winternitz measure of symmetry. There, it was asserted that it follows from a version of Helly's theorem that there must exist at least d+1 different minimal halfspaces at the halfspace median x_P of P. The assumptions of that result appear, however, to be incomplete, as pointed out to us by M. Tancer [147].

Another interesting problem closely connected with the halfspace median and Theorem 7, is a conjecture of Grünbaum [71, p. 41] from 1961 that asks if for any convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ with $d \geq 2$ there exists a point $x \in K$ that is a centroid of at least d + 1 sections of K by different hyperplanes passing through x. For d = 2, the solution to this problem is straightforward, as noted already in [71]. For d > 2, this problem appears to be still open (see [181], [72, p. 251], and [41, Problem A8]). It is natural to conjecture that the halfspace median is such a point. Indeed, combine Theorem 7 with a theorem of Dupin

[47] (stated in part (ii) of Proposition 12 below) that says that for any $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ the point $x \in K$ is the centroid of all minimal hyperplanes at x (w.r.t. the uniform distribution P on K) to obtain that if the minimal hyperplanes at x are in general position, then the halfspace median is a point as postulated in the conjecture. Here, a set of hyperplanes is said to be in general position if for all choices of at most d such distinct hyperplanes their normals are linearly independent. A further open question is if the conjecture holds true with x being the centroid of K.

Theorem 7 provides a useful characterization criterion for the depth-based extension of the median. Apart from its theoretical appeal, it promises applications in the computation of the depth, and the depth median.

4.3.2. Minimality and stability

An important question regarding the measures of symmetry concerns their minimality, i.e. characterization of $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ such that $\mathfrak{S}(K) = \inf \{\mathfrak{S}(K') \colon K' \in \mathcal{K}^d\}$. As remarked by Grünbaum [70, Section 4] in 1960, for the Winternitz measure of symmetry

$$\inf\left\{W(K')\colon K'\in\mathcal{K}^d\right\}=\frac{d^d}{(d+1)^d-d^d},$$

and this value is attained if and only if K is a bounded cone in \mathbb{R}^d . This value corresponds to

$$\inf_{K' \in \mathcal{K}^d} \{ \Pi(P) \colon P \text{ is distributed uniformly on } K' \} = (d/(d+1))^d \,,$$

see also Theorem 3. In a related question, Grünbaum [70] also determined the collection of measures $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that

$$\Pi(P) = 1/(d+1) = \inf \left\{ \Pi(P') \colon P' \in \mathcal{P}\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right) \right\},\$$

by showing that this can happen if and only if P is a uniform distribution on the vertices of a non-degenerate simplex in \mathbb{R}^d . In statistics, this result was observed independently by Donoho and Gasko [45, Lemma 6.3] in 1992 for hD.

In convex analysis, another desirable property of measures of symmetry is their stability. A measure of symmetry \mathfrak{S} is said to have the *stability property* if for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ with $\mathfrak{S}(K) < \inf \{\mathfrak{S}(K') : K' \in \mathcal{K}^d\} + \varepsilon$ there exists a constant c > 0 and $L \in \mathcal{K}^d$ such that $\mathfrak{S}(L) = \inf \{\mathfrak{S}(K') : K' \in \mathcal{K}^d\}$, and $\delta(K, L) \leq c \varepsilon$. Here, δ stands for some metric on \mathcal{K}^d , and c may depend on d, as well as on some characteristic of K such as its volume, or diameter. An important stability theorem for the Winternitz measure of symmetry was derived by Groemer [67, Theorem 2].

Theorem 8. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ and let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be uniformly distributed on K. Let $\varepsilon \geq 0$. There exists a constant $\lambda > 0$ depending only on d such that

 $\Pi(P) \leq (d/(d+1))^d + \varepsilon$ implies that K contains a bounded cone $C \in \mathcal{K}^d$ with

$$d_S(K,C) \le \lambda \operatorname{vol}_d(K) \varepsilon^{1/2d^2}$$

where,

$$d_S(K,C) = \operatorname{vol}_d(K \cup C) - \operatorname{vol}_d(K \cap C)$$
(13)

is the symmetric difference metric on \mathcal{K}^d .

As far as we are aware, no results corresponding to stability theorems can be found for probability measures and the halfspace depth.

Problem 4. Does a variant of a stability result such as Theorem 8 hold for probability measures and depth medians?

4.4. Affine invariant points

Symmetry is a key structural property of convex bodies relevant in many problems. A systematic study of symmetry was initiated by Grünbaum in his seminal paper [72] from 1963. A crucial notion in his work is that of affine invariant point. It allows to analyze the symmetry situation. In a nutshell: the more affine invariant points, the fewer symmetries.

Recall that the set \mathcal{K}^d is equipped with the Hausdorff distance (11).

Definition. A map $p: \mathcal{K}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is called an *affine invariant point*, if p is continuous and if for every non-singular affine map $T: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ one has,

$$p(T(K)) = T(p(K)).$$

We denote by \mathcal{P}^d the set of all affine invariant points on \mathbb{R}^d .

 \mathcal{P}^d is an affine subspace of $C(\mathcal{K}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$, the space of continuous mappings from \mathcal{K}^d to \mathbb{R}^d .

Examples of affine invariant points, already known to Grünbaum [72] are, e.g., the centroid of a convex body K (i.e. the expectation of the uniform distribution on K), the Santaló point (the unique point s(K) in the interior of $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ for which the minimum of the functional $\operatorname{vol}_d(K^{s(K)})$ is attained, see also the important Blaschke-Santaló inequality in (19) below), and the center of the ellipsoid of maximal volume inside a convex body. Grünbaum [72] asked a number of questions about affine invariant points:

- (i) Is there a convex body K such that $\mathcal{P}^d(K) = \{p(K) : p \in \mathcal{P}^d\} = \mathbb{R}^d$?
- (ii) Is the space \mathcal{P}^d infinite-dimensional?
- (iii) Let K be a convex body and let $T \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be an affine map with T(K) = K. We denote

 $\mathcal{F}^d(K) = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon \text{ for all } T \text{ such that } T(K) = K \text{ we have } Tx = x \right\}.$

Do we have $\mathcal{F}^d(K) = \mathcal{P}^d(K)$?

One can argue that those convex bodies that have only one affine invariant point are the most symmetric convex bodies. This would include the simplex in \mathbb{R}^d which is from another point of view the most non-symmetric convex body (see Theorem 3).

A convex body has only one affine invariant point, if it has enough symmetries. We say that an affine map $T: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is a symmetry of a convex body K if T(K) = K. We say that a convex body has enough symmetries if the only affine maps commuting with all symmetries of K are multiples of the identity.

For a convex body K with enough symmetries the halfspace median coincides with the centroid of K.

The following theorems answer Grünbaum's questions (i) and (ii). They can be found in Meyer, Schütt and Werner [131].

Theorem 9. For every $d \geq 2$ there is a body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ with

$$\mathcal{P}^d(K) = \left\{ p(K) \colon p \in \mathcal{P}^d \right\} = \mathbb{R}^d$$

Such convex bodies are actually dense in \mathcal{K}^d with respect to the Hausdorff metric.

Theorem 10. The space \mathcal{P}^d is infinite-dimensional.

In the proofs of these theorems, new classes of affine invariant points were introduced using convex floating bodies (see Section 5.2 below). We define $p_{\delta} \colon \mathcal{K}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ to be the mapping that sends K to the centroid of P_{δ} from (7) for P uniform on K.

Moreover, in Meyer, Schütt and Werner [131, Theorem 2] it was shown that for convex bodies K with $\dim(\mathcal{P}^d(K)) = d-1$ a positive answer to Grünbaum's question (iii) above holds, i.e. $\mathcal{F}^d(K) = \mathcal{P}^d(K)$. It was settled in all dimensions by Mordhorst [135], based on work by Kučment [95] (see also [96]) where question (iii) of Grünbaum was almost proved already in 1972, with only a compactness argument missing.

Theorem 11. For any $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ we have that $\mathcal{F}^d(K) = \mathcal{P}^d(K)$.

5. Description at the boundary: Convex floating bodies

Data depth is intimately related to the concept of *floating body* which we now introduce. We start with a brief discussion of differentiability properties of the boundary of convex bodies, since this will be essential in what follows.

5.1. Curvature of convex bodies

We take as a measure on the boundary ∂K of a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ the restriction of the (d-1)-dimensional Hausdorff measure to ∂K . We call this measure the *boundary measure*, or the Lebesgue measure on ∂K , and denote it by $\mu_{\partial K}$. Let \mathcal{U} be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d and $f: \mathcal{U} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a twice continuously

differentiable function. Then the classical Gauss-Kronecker curvature at $x_0 \in \mathcal{U}$ is

$$\kappa(x_0) = \frac{\det\left(\nabla^2 f(x_0)\right)}{(1 + \|\nabla f(x_0)\|^2)^{\frac{d+2}{2}}},$$

where ∇f is the gradient of f and $\nabla^2 f$ the Hessian of f. The Gauss-Kronecker curvature of the boundary of a convex body is the curvature of a function parametrizing the boundary.

By a theorem of Rademacher (see, e.g., [23, Theorem 2.5.1]), a convex function on \mathbb{R}^d , and in particular the boundary of a convex body, is almost everywhere differentiable. There are, however, examples of convex functions and convex bodies that are not differentiable on a dense set of \mathbb{R}^d and of the boundary of the convex body, respectively. Those examples do not have a second derivative at any point and thus the classical Gauss-Kronecker curvature κ does not exist at any point.

Therefore we use the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature as introduced by Busemann and Feller [30] in dimension d = 3 and Aleksandrov [2] in general. We present here only a short explanation of the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature and we refer to e.g., [173, Section 1.6] and [170] for a detailed account.

A cap of $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ at $x \in \partial K$ is the intersection of a halfspace H^- with K such that there is a supporting hyperplane to K at x that is parallel to H. There may, of course, be points on the boundary of K having more than one supporting hyperplane. But, those points are of measure 0 and shall be of less importance in our discussion.

If K has a unique supporting hyperplane at $x \in \partial K$, we denote by $\Delta(x, \delta)$ the height of a cap with volume δ . The height of a cap is the distance of the supporting hyperplane at x to the parallel hyperplane cutting off a set of volume δ .

Definition. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ and $x \in \partial K$. Let $c_d = 2^{d+1} \left(\operatorname{vol}_{d-1} \left(B^{d-1} \right) / (d+1) \right)^2$. Assume that K has at x a unique supporting hyperplane. We say that K has a generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature if the limit

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} c_d \ \frac{\Delta(x,\delta)^{d+1}}{\delta^2}$$

exists. In this case we define

$$\kappa(x) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} c_d \ \frac{\Delta(x, \delta)^{d+1}}{\delta^2} \tag{14}$$

to be the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature at x.

If the Gauss-Kronecker curvature exists, then it is equal to the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature. By a theorem of Busemann, Feller and Aleksandrov [30, 2] the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature of a convex body exists almost everywhere (in the sense of the boundary measure of K). Geometrically, the existence of the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature at x means that ∂K

can be "well" approximated by an ellipsoid, or ellipsoidal cylinder at x (see, e.g., [173, Section 1.6]).

The following example clarifies the difference between Gauss-Kronecker curvature and generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature.

Example 4. Let $f: [-1,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be defined by

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} x^2 & \text{if } |x| = 1/n \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N}, \\ \frac{2n+1}{n(n+1)} |x| - \frac{1}{n(n+1)} & \text{if } \frac{1}{n+1} < |x| < 1/n \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

The function f is not differentiable at the points $x = \pm 1/n$ and therefore f is not twice differentiable at 0. Thus, the Gauss-Kronecker curvature of f does not exist at 0. On the other hand, it is not difficult to compute that f has a generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature at 0 and this curvature is 2, see Figure 5.



FIG 5. The function f from Example 4 (black solid line) and the function $x \mapsto x^2$ (red dashed line) that approximates f around x = 0. Since f is not twice differentiable at x = 0, its Gauss-Kronecker curvature does not exist at 0. Its generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature at 0 exists and is equal to 2, the Gauss-Kronecker curvature of $x \mapsto x^2$.

5.2. Floating body and convex floating body

Earliest records on floating bodies can be traced back to the early 19th century work of Dupin [47] and are motivated by mechanics. By the Archimedean principle, a solid convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^3$ of constant (volumetric mass) density that floats in water has always a set of the same volume above the water surface, regardless of its position.

This leads to the definition of floating bodies for convex bodies in $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ according to Dupin.

Definition. A nonempty convex subset $K_{[\delta]}$ of $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ is a *floating body* of K with index $\delta > 0$ if each supporting hyperplane to $K_{[\delta]}$ cuts off a set of volume δ from K.



FIG 6. Curves of barycenters of hyperplanes that cut off volume $\delta \in \{0.05, 0.20, 0.35\}$ from convex bodies (thin black lines), and the boundaries of convex floating bodies for the same values of δ (thick red lines), for the uniform distribution on a square (left panel) and a triangle (right panel). For the square, all (Dupin's) floating bodies exist, and coincide with the convex floating bodies. For the triangle, the boundaries of all convex floating bodies are proper sub-curves of the corresponding black curves (the difference is not visible in the plot for $\delta = 0.05$). The (Dupin's) floating bodies do not exist.

Dupin observed that a support hyperplane H to $K_{[\delta]}$ touches the boundary of $K_{[\delta]}$ in exactly one point, the barycenter of $K \cap H$. It implies that if $K_{[\delta]}$ exists, its boundary is given by the surface of all barycenters of $H \cap K$ for hyperplanes H that cut off volume δ from K.

The floating body cannot exist for $\delta > \operatorname{vol}_d(K)/2$. Suppose it does exist. Then any two different parallel supporting hyperplanes of $K_{[\delta]}$ cut off disjoint sets of volume δ from K, and therefore $K_{[\delta]}$ is the empty set. As shown in the next example, the floating body $K_{[\delta]}$ may not exist even for small $\delta > 0$.

Example 5. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^2$ be the equilateral triangle from Example 1. For all $\delta > 0$, the curve of barycenters of lines that cut off volume δ from K is not the boundary of a convex set. Some of these curves for various values of δ are displayed on the right panel of Figure 6. Therefore, in agreement with the observation of Leichtweiß [98, pp. 433–434], no floating body of a triangle exists. Compare this also to Example 1.

If $K \in \mathcal{K}^2$ is the unit square from Example 1, all floating bodies $K_{[\delta]}$ exist for $\delta \in (0, \operatorname{vol}_d(K)/2]$, and they coincide with the halfspace depth central regions (7).

If $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ has a sufficiently smooth boundary, then $K_{[\delta]}$ exists by Leichtweiß [98, Satz 2], at least for small $\delta > 0$. However, in many applications (e.g., in Section 5.3 below), existence of floating bodies for all convex bodies is needed. Therefore a modified definition has been proposed, independently by Bárány and Larman [12] and Schütt and Werner [170], called the convex floating body.

Definition. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d and $\delta \ge 0$. The convex floating body is the intersection of all halfspaces whose defining hyperplanes cut off a set of

volume δ of K,

$$K_{\delta} = \bigcap_{\operatorname{vol}_d(K \cap H^-) = \delta} H^+,$$

where $H \in \mathcal{H}$ and H^+ and H^- are its associated halfspaces.

The convex floating body exists for all convex bodies since it is an intersection of halfspaces. For instance, the convex floating body of the triangle has a boundary described by the red curve in Figure 6. Note also that $K_0 = K$. It is easy to see that whenever $K_{[\delta]}$ exists, then $K_{[\delta]} = K_{\delta}$ [170]. Unlike the floating body, the convex floating body is allowed to be an empty set. This way, all convex floating bodies K_{δ} of K are well defined convex sets, but certainly $K_{\delta} = \emptyset$ if $\delta > \operatorname{vol}_d(K)/2$.

Properties of the convex floating body are stated in the next proposition.

Proposition 12. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ and $\delta > 0$.

- (i) Through every point of ∂K_{δ} there is at least one supporting hyperplane of K_{δ} that cuts off a set of volume δ from K.
- (ii) A supporting hyperplane H of K_{δ} that cuts off a set of volume δ touches K_{δ} in exactly one point, the barycenter of $K \cap H$.
- (iii) K_{δ} is strictly convex.

(iv) Let

$$\delta_0 = \sup\{\delta \colon \operatorname{vol}_d(K_\delta) > 0\}.$$
(15)

Then K_{δ_0} consists of one point only, and for $\delta < \delta_0$ we have that K_{δ} is a convex body.

Most of Proposition 12 was proved in [172, Lemma 2]. Part (ii), in dimension d = 3, is due to Dupin [47], see also [98, p. 435]. In general, it is not true that all supporting hyperplanes to the convex floating body K_{δ} cut off a set of exactly volume δ from K. An example is the simplex, as can be seen also from Example 5. Not every point on the boundary of K_{δ} has a unique supporting hyperplane. An example is the cube, see Example 5.

Meyer and Reisner [129] show that for centrally symmetric convex bodies $K_{[\delta]}$ exists for any $\delta \in (0, \operatorname{vol}_d(K)/2]$. Moreover, in that case each $K_{[\delta]}$ is also (centrally) symmetric around the same center of symmetry as K. In an unpublished work, K. Ball gave a different proof of the existence result, see [130, Section 4].

Proposition 13. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ be a convex body that is (centrally) symmetric with respect to the origin 0, i.e. $x \in K$ implies $-x \in K$. Then we have for any $\delta \in (0, \operatorname{vol}_d(K)/2)$

- (i) The floating body $K_{[\delta]}$ of K exists, and is strictly convex.
- (ii) If, in addition, K is strictly convex and has a C^1 boundary, then the floating body $K_{[\delta]}$ has a C^2 boundary.

The next two results can be found in Schütt and Werner [171, Theorem 5.3 and Proposition 5.1], and describe the behavior of the volume of $K \setminus K_{\delta}$.

Proposition 14. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$, and let δ_0 be as in (15). Then $\operatorname{vol}_d(K \setminus K_\delta)$ is a differentiable function of δ on $(0, \delta_0)$ and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\,\delta}\operatorname{vol}_d(K\setminus K_\delta) = \int_{\partial K_\delta} \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}_{d-1}(K\cap H(x, N_{\partial K_\delta}(x)))} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K_\delta}(x),$$

where $H(x, N_{\partial K_{\delta}}(x))$ is the hyperplane passing through x orthogonal to the normal of K_{δ} at x.

Proposition 15. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ be a (centrally) symmetric convex body in \mathbb{R}^d . Then we have for all $\delta \in (0, \operatorname{vol}_d(K)/2)$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\,\delta}\operatorname{vol}_d(K\setminus K_\delta) \leq \frac{d}{\delta}\operatorname{vol}_d(K\setminus K_\delta)\,.$$

5.3. Affine surface area

An important affine invariant from affine convex geometry is the affine surface area. Applications of the affine surface area are numerous. We only name some in convex geometry [118, 61, 21, 109, 110, 73], in differential geometry [3, 4, 179, 85], approximation of convex bodies by polytopes (see Section 5.7), information theory [117, 189, 7, 190], and partial differential equations [115, 185].

Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d with a C^2 boundary. Then for all $x \in \partial K$, the Gauss-Kronecker curvature $\kappa(x)$ exists and the (classical) affine surface area, introduced by Blaschke [17] in 1923 in dimensions two and three, is defined as

as
$$(K) = \int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} \mathrm{d} \, \mu_{\partial K}(x).$$

For a Euclidean ball with radius 1, the affine surface area equals its surface area. It is 0 for all polytopes. Blaschke [17] observed that for convex bodies in \mathbb{R}^3 with analytic boundary the following identity holds

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_3(K) - \operatorname{vol}_3(K_{[\delta]})}{\delta^{\frac{1}{2}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{4}} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K}(x).$$
(16)

An important tool in the proof of this identity is the rolling theorem of Blaschke [17]: The floating body exists if a sufficiently small Euclidean ball rolls freely inside K, i.e., there is r > 0 such that for all $x \in \partial K$ there is $y \in K$ such that ||x - y|| = r and $B^d(y, r) \subset K$.

It is natural to ask if formula (16) can be extended to all dimensions and all convex bodies using the convex floating body instead of the floating body. This is indeed the case and was achieved in Schütt and Werner [170], where now the function κ under the integral is the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature (14).

Theorem 16. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$. Then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(K) - \operatorname{vol}_d(K_{\delta})}{\delta^{\frac{2}{d+1}}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d+1}{\operatorname{vol}_{d-1}(B^{d-1})} \right)^{\frac{2}{d+1}} \int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K}(x).$$
(17)

The expressions in the above theorem can thus be used to define the affine surface area for all convex bodies. Around the same time, different extensions of the affine surface area to arbitrary convex bodies were given by Leichtweiß [98] and Lutwak [112] and afterwards several more have been found, e.g., [82, 132, 187]. It has been shown that all those extensions coincide.

Expression (17) is called the affine surface area because of its similarity to Minkowski's definition of surface area

$$\operatorname{vol}_{d-1}(\partial K) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\delta} \left(\operatorname{vol}_d \left(K + \delta B^d \right) - \operatorname{vol}_d \left(K \right) \right),$$

and because for all affine maps $T: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, as $(T(K)) = |\det(T)|^{\frac{d-1}{d+1}}$ as (K). The latter equation follows easily from (17). Indeed,

$$(T(K))_{\delta} = T\left(K_{\frac{\delta}{|\det(T)|}}\right).$$

An important tool in the proof of Theorem 16 is a strengthening of Blaschke's rolling theorem. To achieve this, Schütt and Werner [170] introduce the rolling function. For $x \in \partial K$, the rolling function r(x) is the supremum of all radii of Euclidean balls that contain x and that are contained in K, i.e. $r: \partial K \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by

$$r(x) = \sup \{ \|x - z\| : z \in K, B^d(z, \|x - z\|) \subseteq K \}.$$

If K does not have a unique normal at x then r(x) = 0. The following was shown by Schütt and Werner [170, Lemmas 4 and 5].

Proposition 17. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ be such that $B^d \subset K$. Then we have for all t with $0 \le t \le 1$ that $\{x \in \partial K : r(x) \ge t\}$ is a closed set and

$$(1-t)^{d-1}\operatorname{vol}_{d-1}(\partial K) \le \operatorname{vol}_{d-1}(\{x \in \partial K \colon r(x) \ge t\}).$$

The inequality is optimal. In particular, the function $r^{-\alpha} : \partial K \to \mathbb{R}$ is Lebesgue integrable for all α with $0 \leq \alpha < 1$.

Note that by taking t = 0 in Proposition 17 it follows that the boundary of a convex body is almost everywhere differentiable.

Affine invariance is a useful property as it lets us consider convex bodies independent of their position in space. Another extremely important property of the affine surface area is the affine isoperimetric inequality which says that for all convex bodies $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$,

$$\frac{\operatorname{as}(K)}{\operatorname{as}(B^d)} \le \left(\frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(K)}{\operatorname{vol}_d(B^d)}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{d+1}},\tag{18}$$

with equality if and only if K is an ellipsoid (see, e.g., [165, Section 10.5]). The affine isoperimetric inequality is stronger than the classical isoperimetric inequality and provides solutions to many problems where ellipsoids are extrema [113, 172, 180, 192].

The affine isoperimetric inequality (18) is equivalent to another classical inequality from convex geometry, the Blaschke-Santaló inequality [17, 162]. For an interior point x_0 of a convex body K recall the definition of the polar body K^{x_0} of K w.r.t. x_0 from (1). The Blaschke-Santaló inequality states that for all convex bodies K in \mathbb{R}^d ,

$$\operatorname{vol}_{d}(K)\operatorname{vol}_{d}\left(K^{s(K)}\right) \le \operatorname{vol}_{d}\left(B^{d}\right)^{2},$$
(19)

where s(K) is the Santaló point of K, i.e. the unique point for which the minimum is attained on the left hand side. This inequality and its counterpart, the reverse Blaschke-Santaló inequality (proved by Bourgain and Milman [26] and closely connected to the still-unsolved Mahler's conjecture, see e.g. Giannopoulos, Paouris and Vritsiou [63]), are helpful to estimate the volume of convex bodies in situations, when it is easier to compute the volume of the polar K^{x_0} of a convex body. These inequalities have important applications in convex geometry, functional analysis, Banach space theory, quantum information theory, operator theory and geometric number theory. For background including references, see e.g. the books [5, 60, 63, 89, 165].

To conclude this section, note that for a polytope $S \in \mathcal{K}^d$ we have a different behavior of the volume difference $\operatorname{vol}_d(S \setminus S_\delta)$ than that from Theorem 16. To describe it, we need the notion of flag. A *flag* of a polytope S is a *d*-tuple (f_0, \ldots, f_{d-1}) where f_i is an *i*-dimensional face of S with $f_i \subset f_{i+1}$. $\operatorname{fl}_d(S)$ denotes the number of flags of the polytope S.

Theorem 18. Let S be a convex polytope with nonempty interior in \mathbb{R}^d . Then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(S) - \operatorname{vol}_d(S_{\delta})}{\delta \left(\log \frac{1}{\delta}\right)^{d-1}} = \frac{\operatorname{fl}_d(S)}{d! \, d^{d-1}}$$

Theorem 18 was proved by Schütt [167, Theorem 1.2]. Recent extensions of this theorem can be found in Besau, Schütt and Werner [13].

5.4. L_p -affine surface area

The concept of affine surface area for convex bodies has been generalized to L_p -affine surface areas. Those are by now the cornerstones of the rapidly developing L_p -Brunn-Minkowski theory, initiated in the groundbreaking paper of Lutwak [114]. See also [165, Section 9.1] and, e.g., [146, 74, 116, 132]. The next definition was given by Lutwak [114] for p > 1, and Schütt and Werner [174] for all other p. See also Hug [84].

Definition. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d such that 0 is in the interior of K. Let $-\infty \leq p \leq \infty$, $p \neq -d$. The L_p -affine surface area of K is

$$\operatorname{as}_{p}(K) = \int_{\partial K} \frac{\kappa(x)^{\frac{p}{d+p}}}{\langle x, N_{K}(x) \rangle^{\frac{d(p-1)}{d+p}}} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K}(x).$$
(20)

Here, $N_K(x)$ is the outer unit normal at $x \in \partial K$, $\mu_{\partial K}$ is the usual surface area measure on ∂K and κ is the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature at x.

For p = 0, $\operatorname{as}_0(K) = d \operatorname{vol}_d(K)$. For $p = \pm \infty$, the L_p -affine surface area is defined by the corresponding limit in (20)

$$\operatorname{as}_{\pm\infty}(K) = \int_{\partial K} \frac{\kappa(x)}{\langle x, N_K(x) \rangle^d} \, \mathrm{d}\, \mu_{\partial K}(x),$$

which, for K sufficiently smooth, gives $as_{\pm\infty}(K) = d \operatorname{vol}_d(K^\circ)$, where K° is the polar body (1) of K w.r.t. 0. For p = 1 we get the above mentioned affine surface area of K,

as₁ (K) = as (K) =
$$\int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} d\mu_{\partial K}(x)$$

Note that in general the L_p -affine surface area is not an affine invariant anymore, only a linear invariant. There exist geometric identities, analogous to (17), also for L_p -affine surface area. These use weighted floating bodies [188], Santaló bodies [132] and surface bodies [174]. We refer to those references for the details. Moreover, the corresponding L_p -affine isoperimetric inequalities hold true as well.

Theorem 19. Let $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ with the origin in its interior.

(i) If $p \ge 0$, then

$$\frac{\operatorname{as}_{p}\left(K\right)}{\operatorname{as}_{p}\left(B^{d}\right)} \leq \left(\frac{\operatorname{vol}_{d}\left(K\right)}{\operatorname{vol}_{d}\left(B^{d}\right)}\right)^{\frac{d-p}{d+p}}.$$

(*ii*) If -d , then

$$\frac{\mathrm{as}_{p}\left(K\right)}{\mathrm{as}_{p}\left(B^{d}\right)} \geq \left(\frac{\mathrm{vol}_{d}\left(K\right)}{\mathrm{vol}_{d}\left(B^{d}\right)}\right)^{\frac{d-p}{d+p}}$$

Equality holds in (i) and (ii) if and only if K is an ellipsoid.

(iii) If K in addition has C^2 boundary with strictly positive Gauss-Kronecker curvature everywhere and if p < -d, then

$$c^{\frac{d_p}{d+p}} \left(\frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(K)}{\operatorname{vol}_d(B^d)}\right)^{\frac{d-p}{d+p}} \le \frac{\operatorname{as}_p(K)}{\operatorname{as}_p(B^d)}$$

The constant c in (iii) is the constant from the reverse Blaschke-Santaló inequality due to Bourgain and Milman [26, Theorem 1].

Theorem 19 was proved by Lutwak [114] for p > 1 and by Werner and Ye [191, Theorem 4.2] for all other p.

5.5. Floating measures

Much effort has been devoted to extend the theory of convex bodies to a functional setting (e.g., [9, 6, 54]). Natural analogs of convex bodies in the realm of functions are log-concave functions, i.e. densities of log-concave measures. For such measures we present a notion of *floating measure*. Another approach will be shown in Section 6.

Let $\psi \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex function such that

$$0 < \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\psi(x)} \,\mathrm{d}\, x < \infty.$$
⁽²¹⁾

In the general case, when ψ is neither smooth nor strictly convex, the gradient of ψ , denoted by $\nabla \psi$, exists almost everywhere by Rademacher's theorem [23, Theorem 2.5.1]. A theorem of Busemann and Feller [30] and Aleksandrov [2] guarantees the existence of the (generalized) Hessian, denoted by $\nabla^2 \psi$, almost everywhere in \mathbb{R}^d (for details see, e.g., [173, Section 1.6]). The Hessian is a quadratic form on \mathbb{R}^d , and if ψ is a convex function, for almost every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ one has, when $y \to 0$, that

$$\psi(x+y) = \psi(x) + \langle \nabla \psi(x), y \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \nabla^2 \psi(x)(y), y \rangle + o(||y||^2).$$

Let μ be a log-concave measure on \mathbb{R}^d , i.e. a measure with density $e^{-\psi}$, where $\psi \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a convex function. Note that we do not necessarily require that μ is a probability measure. Let

$$epi(\psi) = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \colon y \ge \psi(x)\}$$

be the epigraph of ψ . Then epi (ψ) is a closed convex set in \mathbb{R}^{d+1} and for sufficiently small δ we can define its floating set epi $(\psi)_{\delta}$ as

$$\operatorname{epi}(\psi)_{\delta} = \bigcap_{\{H \in \mathcal{H}: \operatorname{vol}_d(H^- \cap \operatorname{epi}(\psi)) \le \delta\}} H^+.$$

This was done in [101], where also the definition of a floating set was introduced for convex, not necessarily bounded subsets of \mathbb{R}^d .

It is easy to see that there exists a unique convex function $\psi_{\delta} \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $(\operatorname{epi}(\psi))_{\delta} = \operatorname{epi}(\psi_{\delta})$. Consequently, Li, Schütt and Werner [101] define the floating function of a convex function ψ and the floating measure of the (not necessarily probability) measure μ as follows.

Definition. Let $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex function. Let $\delta > 0$.

(i) The *floating function* of ψ is defined to be the function ψ_{δ} such that

$$(\operatorname{epi}(\psi))_{\delta} = \operatorname{epi}(\psi_{\delta}).$$

(ii) Let μ be a measure with density $f(x) = e^{-\psi(x)}$. The floating measure of μ is the measure with density f_{δ} where

$$f_{\delta}(x) = e^{-\psi_{\delta}(x)} \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Note that when ψ is affine, $\psi_{\delta} = \psi$ and, for $f = e^{-\psi}$, $f_{\delta} = f$.

5.6. Affine surface areas for log-concave measures

As far as we know, at present there are two approaches for a definition of affine surface area for log-concave measures. The first one is similar to the one discussed in Section 5.3 and uses the floating measure of Section 5.5 instead of the floating bodies K_{δ} . It was proposed in [101] and is inspired by the formula of Theorem 16. As in Section 5.5, we do not require that the log-concave measure μ with density $e^{-\psi}$ is a probability measure.

Theorem 20. Let $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex function such that (21) holds true. Then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\psi(x)} \,\mathrm{d}\, x - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\psi_\delta(x)} \,\mathrm{d}\, x}{\delta^{2/(d+2)}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d+2}{\mathrm{vol}_d \left(B^d \right)} \right)^{\frac{2}{d+2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\det \left(\nabla^2 \psi(x) \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{d+2}} e^{-\psi(x)} \,\mathrm{d}\, x.$$

This theorem was proved in [101, Theorem 1]. Its comparison with convex bodies (see Theorem 16) led Li, Schütt and Werner [101] to call the right hand side integral of Theorem 20 the affine surface area of the measure μ .

Definition. For a log-concave measure μ on \mathbb{R}^d with density $e^{-\psi}$ such that (21) holds true, the *affine surface area of the measure* μ is given by

as
$$(\mu) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\det \left(\nabla^2 \psi(x) \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{d+2}} e^{-\psi(x)} \,\mathrm{d}\,x.$$
 (22)

This definition is further justified as the expression shares many properties of the affine surface area for convex bodies. For instance, it is invariant under affine transformations with determinant 1. For the standard Gaussian measure P we have that as (P) = 1.

Another definition of affine surface area for log-concave measures was put forward in Caglar et al. [31]. Actually, an even more general approach was proposed, again for convex functions ψ such that (21) holds true. We put Ω_{ψ} to be the set of vectors in \mathbb{R}^d at which $\nabla^2 \psi$ exists and is invertible.

Definition. For a log-concave measure μ on \mathbb{R}^d with density $e^{-\psi}$ such that (21) holds true and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, the λ -affine surface areas are

$$\operatorname{As}_{\lambda}(\mu) = \int_{\Omega_{\psi}} e^{\lambda(2\psi(x) - \langle x, \nabla \psi(x) \rangle)} \left(\det \nabla^2 \psi(x) \right)^{\lambda} e^{-\psi(x)} \, \mathrm{d} \, x.$$
(23)

We can replace Ω_{ψ} by \mathbb{R}^d for $\lambda > 0$.

Differentiating with respect to α at $\alpha = 1$, we get in the case of 2-homogeneous convex functions ψ , that is $\psi(\alpha x) = \alpha^2 \psi(x)$, for any $\alpha > 0$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, that

$$\langle x, \nabla \psi(x) \rangle = 2\psi(x)$$

Thus, for 2-homogeneous functions ψ , formula (23) simplifies to

As_{$$\lambda$$} (ψ) = $\int_{\Omega_{\psi}} \left(\det \nabla^2 \psi(x) \right)^{\lambda} e^{-\psi(x)} dx,$

and definitions (22) and (23) agree for $\lambda = \frac{1}{d+2}$.

To understand why it is justified to name the quantities (23) affine surface areas, we recall the definition of the L_p -affine surface areas (20) for convex bodies K. It was noted in Caglar et al. [31] that the definition of λ -affine surface area for a log-concave density agrees with the definition of L_p -affine surface area for convex bodies if the function is the gauge function $\|\cdot\|_K$ of a convex body Kwith 0 in its interior,

$$||x||_K = \min\{\alpha \ge 0 \colon x \in \alpha K\}.$$

The next theorem is from Caglar et al. [31, Theorem 3].

Theorem 21. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d that contains the origin in its interior. For any $p \ge 0$, let $\lambda = \frac{p}{d+p}$. Then

$$\operatorname{As}_{\lambda}\left(\frac{\|\cdot\|_{K}^{2}}{2}\right) = \frac{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}}{d\operatorname{vol}_{d}(B^{d})}\operatorname{as}_{p}(K).$$

Moreover, if the set of points of ∂K where the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature is strictly positive has full measure in ∂K , then the same relation holds true for every $p \neq -d$.

The L_p -affine isoperimetric inequalities for convex bodies of Theorem 19 have analogs for the λ -affine surface areas for log-concave measures. We only mention the case $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ and refer to Caglar et al. [31] for the other cases.

Proposition 22. Let $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ be a convex function such that (21) holds true and such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} x e^{-\psi(x)} dx = 0$. Then we have for all $\lambda \in [0, 1]$,

$$\frac{\operatorname{As}_{\lambda}(\mu)}{\operatorname{As}_{\lambda}\left(\frac{\|\cdot\|^{2}}{2}\right)} \leq \left(\frac{\int_{\Omega_{\psi}} e^{-\psi(x)} \,\mathrm{d}\,x}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{-\frac{\|x\|^{2}}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}\,x}\right)^{1-2\lambda}$$

In particular, if ψ is in addition 2-homogeneous, then

$$\frac{\operatorname{as}\left(\mu\right)}{\operatorname{as}\left(\frac{\|\cdot\|^2}{2}\right)} \leq \left(\frac{\int_{\Omega_{\psi}} e^{-\psi(x)} \operatorname{d} x}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\frac{\|x\|^2}{2}} \operatorname{d} x}\right)^{\frac{d}{d+2}}$$

Equality holds in the inequalities if and only if there are $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and a positive definite matrix A such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\psi(x) = \langle Ax, x \rangle + a.$$

A main ingredient in the proof of this proposition is a functional version of the Blaschke-Santaló inequality. We refer to [9, 6, 54] for the details.

5.7. Applications of affine surface area: Approximation of convex bodies by polytopes

Approximation by polytopes is a central topic in convex geometry with numerous applications. There is a huge amount of literature on the subject. A (very incomplete) list is [20, 69, 152, 168, 68, 81, 111]. We present only one aspect of the subject, approximation by polytopes with a fixed number of vertices and refer to the literature for others.

5.7.1. Best and random approximation

Ideally, in approximation problems, one seeks a best approximating polytope in a given metric. One such result is given in the next theorem, where we consider all polytopes with at most N vertices that are contained in a convex body K. By compactness, there is a polytope P_N in this class with maximal volume. This means that the symmetric difference metric $d_S(K, P_N)$ from (13) is minimal. Such a polytope is called best approximating with respect to the symmetric difference metric.

Theorem 23. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d with C^2 -boundary ∂K and everywhere strictly positive Gauss-Kronecker curvature κ . For every $N \in \mathbb{N}$ let P_N be a best approximating polytope of K with at most N vertices. Then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}_S(K, P_N)}{\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)^{\frac{2}{d-1}}} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{del}_{d-1} \left(\int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} \mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K}(x) \right)^{\frac{d+1}{d-1}}, \tag{24}$$

where del_{d-1} is a constant depending only on the dimension d.

This theorem was proved by McClure and Vitale [128] in dimension 2 and by Gruber [69] for general dimension. It was shown by Mankiewicz and Schütt [120] that del_{d-1} is of the order of dimension, or more precisely,

$$\frac{d-1}{d+1}\operatorname{vol}_{d-1}\left(B^{d-1}\right)^{-\frac{2}{d-1}} \leq \operatorname{del}_{d-1} \\
\leq \frac{d-1}{d+1}\operatorname{vol}_{d-1}\left(B^{d-1}\right)^{-\frac{2}{d-1}}\frac{\Gamma\left(d+1+\frac{2}{d-1}\right)}{d!}.$$
(25)

Note that $\frac{\Gamma(d+1+\frac{2}{d-1})}{d!} \leq 1 + c \frac{\log d}{d}$, where c is an absolute constant. On the right hand side of equation (24) we find the affine surface area of K

On the right hand side of equation (24) we find the affine surface area of K from Section 5.3. It is natural that such a term should appear in approximation questions: Intuitively, we expect that more vertices of the approximating polytope should be put where the boundary of K is very curved, and fewer points where the boundary is flat, to get a good approximation in the d_S -metric.

However it is only in rare cases that a best approximating polytope can be singled out. Consequently, a common practice is to randomize: Choose N points at random in K with respect to a probability measure P on K. The convex hull

of these randomly chosen points is a random polytope. The expected volume of a random polytope of N points is

$$E(K,N) = \int_K \cdots \int_K \operatorname{vol}_d \left([x_1, \dots, x_N] \right) \, \mathrm{d} \, P(x_1) \dots \, \mathrm{d} \, P(x_N),$$

where $[x_1, \ldots, x_N]$ is the convex hull of the points x_1, \ldots, x_N . Thus the expression $\operatorname{vol}_d(K) - E(K, N)$ measures how close a random polytope and the convex body are in the symmetric difference metric.

We now compare best approximation with random approximation. The analog to Theorem 23 in the random case is the following theorem. There, the probability measure is the normalized Lebesgue measure on K.

Theorem 24. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d . Then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(K) - E(K, N)}{\left(\frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(K)}{N}\right)^{\frac{2}{d+1}}} = c(d) \int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K}(x),$$

where c(d) is a constant that depends only on d.

This theorem was proved by Rényi and Sulanke [153, 154] in dimension 2. Wieacker [193] settled the case of the Euclidean ball in dimension d. Bárány [11] proved the result for convex bodies with C^3 -boundary and everywhere positive Gauss-Kronecker curvature. Finally, the general result for arbitrary convex bodies was proved by Schütt [168] and Böröczky, Fodor and Hug [22].

Notice that Theorem 24 does not give the optimal dependence on N for best approximation. One reason is that not all the points chosen at random from Kappear as vertices of the approximating random polytope. Thus we now choose the points randomly from the boundary of K according to a measure with a density with respect to $\mu_{\partial K}$. We denote by E(K, f, N) the expected volume of the corresponding random polytope. Which density is optimal? It turns out that it is, up to normalization, the (d + 1)-root of the generalized Gauss-Kronecker curvature. The integral of this function is the affine surface area. The next theorem was shown by Schütt and Werner [173, Theorem 1.1], see also Reitzner [151].

Theorem 25. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d such that there are $0 < r \leq R < \infty$ so that we have for all $x \in \partial K$

$$B^{d}(x - rN_{K}(x), r) \subseteq K \subseteq B^{d}(x - RN_{K}(x), R),$$

for $N_K(x)$ an outer unit normal of K at x, and let $f: \partial K \to (0, \infty)$ be continuous with $\int_{\partial K} f(x) d\mu_{\partial K}(x) = 1$. Then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(K) - E(K, f, N)}{\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)^{\frac{2}{d-1}}} = c(d) \int_{\partial K} \frac{\kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d-1}}}{f(x)^{\frac{2}{d-1}}} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K}(x) \tag{26}$$

where

$$c(d) = \frac{(d-1)^{\frac{d+1}{d-1}} \Gamma\left(d+1+\frac{2}{d-1}\right)}{2(d+1)! (\operatorname{vol}_{d-2}\left(\partial B^{d-1}\right))^{\frac{2}{d-1}}},$$

The minimum at the right-hand side of (26) is attained for the normalized affine surface area measure with density

$$f_{as}(x) = \frac{\kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}}}{\int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} d\mu_{\partial K}(x)} \quad \text{for } x \in \partial K.$$

Best approximation of Theorem 23 differs from random approximation of Theorem 25 only in the dimensional constants del_{d-1} and c(d). Comparing those, using also (25), an amazing fact follows: with the density f_{as} random approximation is almost as good as best approximation,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}_S(K, P_N)}{\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)^{\frac{2}{d-1}}} \leq \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{\mathrm{vol}_d(K) - E(K, f_{as}, N)}{\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)^{\frac{2}{d-1}}}$$
$$\leq \left(1 + c \frac{\log d}{d}\right) \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}_S(K, P_N)}{\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)^{\frac{2}{d-1}}},$$

where c is an absolute constant.

5.7.2. The floating body algorithm

Bárány and Larman [12, Theorem 1] established a relation between floating bodies and random polytopes for the uniform measure on the convex body: With high probability the volume of a random polytope is close to the volume of an appropriate floating body.

Theorem 26. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d . Then there is $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $N \geq N_0$

$$c_1\left(\operatorname{vol}_d\left(K\right) - \operatorname{vol}_d\left(K_{\frac{1}{N}\operatorname{vol}_d\left(K\right)}\right)\right) \leq \operatorname{vol}_d\left(K\right) - E(K,N)$$
$$\leq c_2\left(\operatorname{vol}_d\left(K\right) - \operatorname{vol}_d\left(K_{\frac{1}{N}\operatorname{vol}_d\left(K\right)}\right)\right),$$

where c_1 and c_2 are constants that depend on d only.

Even more can be said about the connection between floating bodies and random polytopes. There is an algorithm, the floating body algorithm, where, for a given convex body K in \mathbb{R}^d , one uses floating bodies to construct a polytope P_N with as few vertices N as possible such that for a suitable δ , $K_{\delta} \subseteq P_N \subseteq K$ and such that P_N approximates the convex body K very well in the symmetric difference metric. It should be noted that we make no assumption on K.

We describe this algorithm: We are choosing the vertices $x_1, \ldots, x_N \in \partial K$ of the polytope P_N . Point x_1 is chosen arbitrarily. Having chosen x_1, \ldots, x_{k-1} we choose x_k such that

$$\{x_1,\ldots,x_{k-1}\} \cap \operatorname{Int}\left(K \cap H^-(x_k - \Delta_k N_K(x_k), N_K(x_k))\right) = \emptyset$$

where $N_K(x_k)$ denotes a (not necessarily unique) outer normal to ∂K at x_0 , Int(C) is the interior of a set $C \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, and Δ_k is determined by

$$\operatorname{vol}_d \left(K \cap H^- \left(x_k - \Delta_k N_K(x_k), N_K(x_k) \right) \right) = \delta.$$

The next theorem can be found in Schütt [169].

Theorem 27. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d . Then, for all δ with $0 < \delta \leq \frac{1}{4e^4} \operatorname{vol}_d(K)$ there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ with

$$\operatorname{vol}_d(K \setminus K_\delta) \le N\left(\frac{c}{4e^4}\right)^d \operatorname{vol}_d(B^d) 4e^3\delta$$

where c is a universal constant, and there exists a polytope P_N that has at most N vertices and such that

$$K_{\delta} \subseteq P_N \subseteq K.$$

How well does this polytope approximate K? It follows from Theorem 27 that d+1

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}_S(K, P_N)}{\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)^{\frac{2}{d-1}}} \le c \ d^2 \left(\int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu_{\partial K}(x) \right)^{\frac{d-1}{d-1}}$$

This should be compared to (24). Since del_{d-1} is of the order of d, both expressions differ only by a factor of the order of dimension d.

6. Floating bodies of measures

The definition of the (convex) floating body of a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ discussed in Section 5 extends naturally also to general probability measures, in a manner different from that in Section 5.5. It is closely related to the halfspace depth. Analogously to the approach of Dupin [47], consider the following definition.

Definition. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\delta > 0$. We say that the nonempty convex set $P_{[\delta]}$ is the *floating body* of P with index δ if for each supporting halfspace H^+ of $P_{[\delta]}$ we have $P(H^-) = \delta$.

For P distributed uniformly on a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ of unit volume, $P_{[\delta]} = K_{[\delta]}$. Therefore, the floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ does not exist for $\delta > 1/2$, and it may happen that it does not exist for any $\delta > 0$, see the example of (the uniform distribution on) a triangle from Example 5. Unlike in the situation with the floating body of $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$, even if the floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ of $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ exists, it may not be uniquely defined. Take, for instance, a distribution P on \mathbb{R} whose support is not contiguous, such as that displayed in Figure 7. For $\delta = 1/4$,

and q_2 the $(1 - \delta)$ -quantile of P, each interval $[q_1, q_2]$ for $q_1 \in [0, 1]$ is a floating body of P. Note that if P has contiguous support and $P_{[\delta]}$ exists, then it is unique.

To avoid these problems, let us consider, as in the case of convex bodies, the convex floating body of P, given by an intersection of halfspaces.

Definition. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For $\delta \geq 0$, the convex floating body of P with index δ is defined as the intersection of all closed halfspaces whose defining hyperplanes cut off a set of probability content at most δ from P, i.e.

$$P_{\delta}^{FB} = \bigcap_{P(H^{-}) \le \delta} H^{+}, \qquad (27)$$

where $H \in \mathcal{H}$ and H^+ and H^- are its associated closed halfspaces.

Note that with the convention that the intersection of an empty collection of subsets of \mathbb{R}^d is \mathbb{R}^d , convex floating bodies of a measure are always well defined, unique, convex subsets of \mathbb{R}^d . It can happen that $P_{\delta}^{FB} = \emptyset$, especially for larger values of δ . It is easy to see that for $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ distributed uniformly on $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ with $\operatorname{vol}_d(K) = 1$, $P_{\delta}^{FB} = K_{\delta}$ for any $\delta \geq 0$, and the convex floating bodies of measures generalize the convex floating bodies discussed throughout Section 5.

(Convex) floating bodies for general measures have already been considered in the literature, mainly due to the association of convex bodies and log-concave measures established by Ball [10]. The previous definitions were considered by Werner [188], Bobkov [18], Fresen [57, 58], and Brunel [28], among others. In connection with the halfspace depth, the floating bodies (27) were considered in Nolan [143], and Massé and Theodorescu [126]. In the latter paper, those regions are called the δ -trimmed regions of P.

The convex floating body of a measure P is very closely related to the depth central region P_{δ} , defined in (7) as the upper level set of the depth $hD(\cdot; P)$. Indeed, recall the characterization of Rousseeuw and Ruts [160, Proposition 6], who showed that for any $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\delta > 0$

$$P_{\delta} = \bigcap_{P(H^+) > 1 - \delta} H^+$$

On the other hand, it is not difficult to see that the convex floating body (27) can be written also in the form

$$P_{\delta}^{FB} = \bigcap_{P(H^+) \ge 1-\delta} H^+.$$
(28)

Now it is obvious that for all $\delta \geq 0$ we have that

$$P_{\delta}^{FB} \subseteq P_{\delta}$$

and under the assumption of the contiguity of the support of P,

$$P_{\delta} = P_{\delta}^{FB}$$

These results were noted by Kong and Mizera [90, Theorem 2] and Brunel [28, Lemma 1]. For general measures P it may happen that the convex floating body is a proper subset of the depth central region, see Figure 7.

It is interesting to investigate which results for convex bodies described in Section 5 carry over to measures.



FIG 7. For distributions whose support is not contiguous, the convex floating body (27) and the halfspace depth central region (7) may differ. In this example, the density of $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^1)$, supported on disjoint intervals [-2, 0] and [1, 5], is displayed (orange line), along with its halfspace depth function (dashed brown line). For $\delta = 1/4$, the left endpoint of the interval P_{δ} is 0. But the complement of the halfline $[1, \infty)$ (black arrow) has probability 1/4, and the left endpoint of the convex 1/4-floating body of P is 1. Points in the interval (0, 1) are not boundaries of any convex floating body of P.

Let us first relate the floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ with the the convex floating body P_{δ}^{FB} and the central region P_{δ} . If a unique floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ of a measure $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ exists, then the corresponding convex floating body P_{δ}^{FB} must be equal to $P_{[\delta]}$. For the sake of completeness, let us provide an elementary proof of this result.

Proposition 28. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ have contiguous support. Then $P_{\delta}^{FB} = P_{\delta}$ for any $\delta > 0$. If, in addition, also $P_{[\delta]}$ exists, then $P_{\delta}^{FB} = P_{\delta} = P_{[\delta]}$.

Proof. Recall that if $P_{[\delta]}$ exists, then it is unique as P has contiguous support. For P with contiguous support, the proof of $P_{\delta}^{FB} = P_{\delta}$ can be found in [28, Lemma 1].

We show now that $P_{[\delta]} = P_{\delta}$. We show first that $P_{\delta} \subseteq P_{[\delta]}$. Let $x \notin P_{[\delta]}$. By the Hahn-Banach separation theorem there is a support hyperplane H_0 to $P_{[\delta]}$ that strictly separates x and $P_{[\delta]}$, i.e., $x \in \text{Int}(H_0^-)$, $P_{[\delta]} \subset H_0^+$ and $P_{[\delta]} \cap H_0 \neq \emptyset$. Since H_0 is a supporting hyperplane to $P_{[\delta]}$, $P(H_0^-) = \delta$. Then, as $P_{\delta} = \bigcap_{P(H^-) \leq \delta} H^+$, $x \notin P_{\delta}$.

Now we show that $P_{[\delta]} \subseteq P_{\delta}$. Suppose not. Then there exists $x \in P_{[\delta]}$ such that, by (28), $x \notin H_1^+$ for some H_1 with $P(H_1^+) \ge 1 - \delta$. In that case there must exist a hyperplane H_2 with $x \in H_2^- \subsetneq H_1^-$. Because H_2^- lies completely in the open halfspace complementary to H_1^+ , by the contiguity of P we know that $P(H_2^-) < \delta$. This contradicts $x \in P_{[\delta]}$, as for P contiguous the boundary hyperplane of any closed halfspace with probability δ must support $P_{[\delta]}$.

Now we explore whether analogues of Propositions 12–15 stated for convex bodies in Section 5 hold true also for measures.

6.0.1. Proposition 12 for measures

A result analogous to part (i) of Proposition 12 would require that the infimum in the definition of the halfspace depth (3) can be replaced by a minimum, i.e. that a minimal halfspace of hD exists at each $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ for any $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For measures that that do not satisfy (4) this is not true, as noted already by Rousseeuw and Ruts [160, Remark 1]. There, the following example is given.

Example 6. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ be a mixture of the standard bivariate Gaussian distribution and the Dirac measure at the point (1, 1), with equal mixing proportions. Then, at x = (0, 1), we have $hD(x; P) = \Phi(-1)/2$, where Φ is the distribution function of the standard univariate Gaussian distribution, see also Example 2. Yet, no minimal halfspace at x exists.

For a different example of the same phenomenon, see Massé [124, Section 2]. For distributions that satisfy (4), a minimal halfspace always exists for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. That was shown, e.g., by Massé [124, Proposition 4.5 (i)].

An extension of Dupin's theorem (part (ii) of Proposition 12) to probability distributions was stated in Hassairi and Regaieg [78, Theorem 3.1]. Here we provide a version of that result with a slightly modified set of assumptions. The proof of the proposition follows very closely the original proof from [78, Theorem 3.1], and is omitted.

Proposition 29. Let $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be absolutely continuous with contiguous support Supp(P) and let $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be such that hD(x; P) > 0. Denote by f_u the density of the random variable given by $\langle X - x, u \rangle$ with $u \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$. Suppose that $f_u(y)$ is continuous as a function of $u \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ and y in a neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $H^- \in \mathcal{H}^-$ be a minimal halfspace at x, i.e. $x \in H$ and $P(H^-) = hD(x; P)$. Then

$$x = \frac{\int_H yf(y) \,\mathrm{d}\, y}{\int_H f(y) \,\mathrm{d}\, y}$$

i.e. x is the conditional expectation of P given H. The integrals in the formula above are taken with respect to the (d-1)-dimensional Lebesgue measure on H.

One has to be careful with the statement of Proposition 29. Without the required continuity properties of the marginal densities f_u , the conditional expectation of P given a hyperplane H, may not even be well defined. To illustrate our point, we give an example that was brought to our attention by M. Tancer [183].

Example 7. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ be distributed uniformly on the union of two squares with vertices (1,0), (1,2), (-1,2), (-1,0), and (2,0), (2,-4), (-2,-4), (-2,0), respectively, see the left panel of Figure 8. Consider $x = (\varepsilon, 0)$ for $-1/2 \leq \varepsilon \leq 1/2$. A simple computation shows that hD(x; P) = 1/5, and the unique minimal halfspace at all such points x is the halfspace H^+ that cuts off the smaller square from P. A direct analogue of Dupin's theorem would now assert that the conditional expectation of $H = \partial H^+$ is not unique — any x on the line segment L that joins (-1/2, 0) and (1/2, 0) would be a candidate for the barycenter of P given H. The problem here, of course, is due to the discontinuity of the marginal density of P at H. For this particular H, the conditional expectation of P given H is not properly defined.

Problem 5. Does a version of Dupin's theorem (i.e. a variant of Proposition 29) hold true also under weaker conditions on measures $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$?



FIG 8. Left panel: polygon where the measure P is supported in Example 7, line segment L (thick solid line), and the unique minimal hyperplane at $x = (\varepsilon, 0)$ for $|\varepsilon| \leq 1/2$ (dashed line). Right panel: central region P_{δ} of P for $\delta = 0.2$. This region is not strictly convex, as it contains the line segment L between the points (-1/2, 0) and (1/2, 0).

To see that the strict convexity of the central regions (part (iii) of Proposition 12) does not hold true for all measures, it is enough to return to Example 7. Indeed, due to the considerations made there, the line segment L lies on the boundary of the central region $P_{\delta} = P_{\delta}^{FB}$ for $\delta = 1/5$, and $P_{1/5}$ is not strictly convex, see also the right panel of Figure 8. For another example where the strict convexity of P_{δ} is violated, recall the collection of α -symmetric distributions from Example 2 for $\alpha \leq 1$, and the right panel of Figure 4. In Example 7, the problem appears to stem from discontinuity of the density of P at the boundary of a minimal halfspace. For α -symmetric distributions the problem is that the expectation of P is not defined. **Problem 6.** Under which conditions are the central regions P_{δ} and the convex floating bodies P_{δ}^{FB} strictly convex?

An extension of part (iv) of Proposition 12 was given by Mizera and Volauf [134, Proposition 7], who stated that if (4) is true for P with contiguous support, then the halfspace median of P is a unique point.

6.0.2. Proposition 13 for measures

The (Dupin's) floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ of a general measure P may not exist. Sufficient conditions for the existence of floating bodies of probability measures appear to be a challenging problem of great importance in mathematical statistics, and the theory of data depth (see, e.g., [28, Open question 1], or [124, 125]). Many theoretical results on the behavior of the depth and its central regions hold true only under the assumption of existence of floating bodies of P, see also the discussion in Section 8 below. Brunel [28, Open question 2] asks a question that can be rephrased as follows:

Is it true that for any log-concave measure $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ all floating bodies $P_{[\delta]}$ for $\delta > 0$ small enough exist?

From the example of the uniform distribution on a triangle (Example 5), we see that the answer to the above question is negative. Though, under the additional assumption of central symmetry of P, similar properties have been investigated by Meyer and Reisner [129] for convex bodies (see Proposition 13 above), and extended to certain probability measures by Bobkov [18, Section 6]. In the latter paper, it is shown that all $P_{[\delta]}$ exist for centrally symmetric *s*concave measures with $s \geq -1$. As far as we are aware, the following theorem from [18, Theorem 6.1] is, up to date, the most general result on the existence of floating bodies of measures $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Theorem 30. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be a centrally symmetric s-concave measure with $s \geq -1$ such that $\operatorname{Supp}(P)$ is a d-dimensional subset of \mathbb{R}^d . Then $P_{[\delta]}$ exists for all $\delta \in (0, 1/2]$.

As remarked by Bobkov [18], it is not known whether the restriction $s \ge -1$ can be dropped.

Problem 7. Do the floating bodies of all centrally symmetric *s*-concave measures with full-dimensional support exist?

Problem 8. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be centrally symmetric with a sufficiently smooth density f that is positive on \mathbb{R}^d . Suppose that all the upper level sets of the density $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : f(x) \ge t\}$ are (strictly) convex. Does this imply that the floating bodies of P exist for $\delta \in (0, 1/2]$?

As shown in the following theorem, there exists a close connection between the question of existence of floating bodies, and the problem of smoothness of the boundaries of the central regions P_{δ} . **Proposition 31.** Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ satisfy (4), $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$, and let P_{δ} be a convex body whose boundary is C^1 . Then P_{δ} is a floating body.

Proof. Let $x \in \partial P_{\delta}$. Since, under (4), the depth $hD(\cdot; P)$ is continuous on \mathbb{R}^d ([134, Proposition 1], or Section 3.2.5 above), $hD(x; P) = \delta$. Using [124, Proposition 4.5 (i)] there exists a minimal halfspace $H^- \in \mathcal{H}^-$ at x, and H^+ then must support P_{δ} at x by Proposition 6. Because of the smoothness of the boundary of P_{δ} , there is only a single supporting halfspace of P_{δ} at each $x \in \partial P_{\delta}$. Thus, we have shown that for any supporting halfspace H^+ of P_{δ} , $P(H^-) = \delta$, and P_{δ} is a floating body of P.

Smoothness of boundaries of P_{δ} was recognized to be crucial in establishing theoretical properties of hD already by Nolan [143], and Massé and Theodorescu [126]. Many theoretical results stated for the halfspace depth in statistics rely on that condition. For instance, as shown by Massé [124, Theorem 2.1], the asymptotic distribution of the sample halfspace depth at x is Gaussian if the boundary of P_{δ} passing through x has a unique minimal halfspace. For another application of the smoothness of boundaries of floating bodies see Section 8 below.

Despite being of critical importance, so far the only examples of distributions with smooth contours of hD are the (full-dimensional affine images of) α symmetric distributions with $\alpha > 1$, see Example 2. As discussed in [64], apart from those distributions, no other multivariate measure with smooth depth contours is known in statistics. In that paper, it is also shown that simple distributions such as mixtures of multivariate Gaussian distributions, and distributions with smooth centrally symmetric, or smooth strictly quasi-concave densities, may have points at which the boundary of P_{δ} is not smooth. It is therefore remarkable that Meyer and Reisner [129, Theorem 3] (part (ii) of Proposition 13 above) showed that for certain (centrally) symmetric convex bodies, the boundaries of K_{δ} exhibit a high degree of smoothness. We are not aware of any result giving sufficient conditions for higher order differentiability of the boundary of the depth central regions, or convex floating bodies of measures, in statistics.

Problem 9. Under which conditions have the central regions P_{δ} and the convex floating bodies P_{δ}^{FB} boundaries of type C^1 or C^2 ?

6.0.3. Propositions 14 and 15 for measures

Problem 10. Are there analogues of Proposition 14 and Proposition 15 for measures?

6.1. Application: Multivariate extremes and depth

The intimate connections of floating bodies with the approximation problems described in Section 5.7 have analogues for probability measures. If X_1, \ldots, X_n is a random sample from distribution $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, one can ask how fast does the

random polytope given by the convex hull of these random points grow to the convex hull of the support of P. In conjunction with the advances for uniform measures on convex bodies outlined in Section 5.7, it is not surprising that the halfspace depth and floating bodies of measures play a prominent role in these problems.

The following theorem, called the multivariate Gnedenko law of large numbers, can be found in Fresen [58, Theorem 2].

Theorem 32. Let q > 0 and p > 1, and let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be a probability measure with a density of the form $f(x) = ce^{-g(x)^p}$ where $g: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$ is a convex function and c > 0. Then there exist constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that for a random sample X_1, \ldots, X_n of any size $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n \ge d + 2$ from P, it holds true that

$$\mathsf{P}\left(\mathsf{d}_{H}\left(\left[X_{1},\ldots,X_{n}\right],P_{1/n}\right) \leq c_{1}\frac{\log\log n}{\left(\log n\right)^{1-1/p}}\right) \geq 1 - c_{2}\left(\log n\right)^{-q},\qquad(29)$$

where $[X_1, \ldots, X_n]$ is the closed convex hull of the points X_1, \ldots, X_n , and $P_{1/n}$ is the depth central region P_{δ} with $\delta = 1/n$.

Distributions P from Theorem 32 are sometimes called p-log-concave measures. For usual log-concave measures, an inequality only slightly weaker than (29) is given in Fresen [58, Theorem 1].

Theorem 32 asserts that, with large probability, convex hulls of large random samples from P behave as the halfspace depth central regions P_{δ} for very small values of δ . This observation opens a whole new field of applications of the depth in multivariate extreme value theory. Indeed, by now, data depth has been used in statistics predominantly as a robust tool that identifies the central parts of the probability mass of distributions, and little attention was paid to its behavior near the tails. Theorem 32 gives a probabilistic interpretation also to the boundaries of those depth regions that correspond to the extreme depth-quantiles. It is also interesting to compare Theorem 32 with the recent advances of Einmahl, Li and Liu [51] and He and Einmahl [79]. There, the authors employ extreme value theory in order to estimate P_{δ} for low values of δ reliably from the data. It will be interesting to see what can be obtained by a proper combination of the estimation techniques from the latter papers, and the asymptotic representations of Fresen [58].

In a further analogue with the exposition from Section 5, one may study the limit behavior of the quantity

$$P(P_0) - P(P_\delta) = 1 - P(P_\delta)$$
(30)

as $\delta \to 0$ from the right. More specifically, assume that the difference (30) is scaled properly, so that the resulting limit is a finite, non-negative number $\Omega(P)$. The characteristic $\Omega(P)$, together with the sequence of its scaling constants, is then an affine invariant on $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. $\Omega(P)$ is not a generalized notion of the affine surface area such as the functional from Section 5.6, but it is interesting in its own right. From the viewpoint of statistics, $\Omega(P)$ may serve as an index of

heavy-tailedness of the distribution P, where not only the size of the tails is evaluated, but also "the complexity of the boundary" of Supp(P) is taken into account.

7. Mahalanobis ellipsoids and the halfspace depth

Let $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be distributed uniformly on $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$. The body K is said to be *isotropic*, or in the *isotropic position*, if $\operatorname{vol}_d(K) = 1$, $\mathbb{E}X = 0$, and $\operatorname{Var} X = L_K^2 I_d$ where $L_K > 0$ is a constant and I_d the $d \times d$ identity matrix. Geometrically, this means that the barycenter of K is at the origin and that the ellipsoid of inertia of K, or equivalently, all Mahalanobis ellipsoids of P from (6), are Euclidean balls. The constant

$$L_{K} = \frac{1}{d} \left(\int_{K} \|x\|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\,x \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

is called the *isotropic constant* of K.

The isotropic constant plays an important role in the analysis of convex bodies. We refer to e.g. Milman and Pajor [133] and the book of Brazitikos et al. [27, Chapter 3]. The conjecture that for all $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ the constant L_K is bounded from above by an absolute constant independent of the dimension d is one of the major open problems in geometric analysis. The best known upper estimate so far, due to Klartag [88], is that $L_K \leq c d^{\frac{1}{4}}$ for an absolute constant c, improving an earlier estimate by Bourgain [25] by a logarithmic factor. The conjecture is equivalent to the hyperplane conjecture, first formulated by Bourgain, which asks whether every centered convex body of volume 1 has a hyperplane section through the origin whose (d-1)-dimensional volume is greater than an absolute positive constant, independent of dimension d. We refer to e.g. [27, Section 3.1] for details.

For any K there exists an affine transformation T such that T(K) is isotropic, and the isotropic position is uniquely determined up to orthogonal transformations. The isotropic constant of a general body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ is then defined as the isotropic constant of the corresponding isotropic body T(K).

Similarly, we can define the isotropic constant for probability measures P with log-concave density f. A measure that corresponds to $X \sim P$ is *isotropic* if it is centered, i.e. $\mathbb{E} X = 0$, and if for all $u \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle x, u \rangle^2 f(x) \, \mathrm{d} \, x = 1.$$

or, equivalently, $\operatorname{Var} X = I_d$. Then

$$L_P = \left(\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} f(x)\right)^{\frac{1}{d}}$$

is the *isotropic constant* of P. The isotropic constant of a general probability measure P with log-concave density is, again, given as the isotropic constant

of an affine image of P that is isotropic [27, Chapter 2]. Note that a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ of volume 1 is isotropic, if and only if the density of the uniform distribution on the convex body K/L_K is an isotropic log-concave density.

For bodies and log-concave measures in isotropic position, many important geometrical results are known. In this section we state one that relates to the subjects of data depth and floating bodies.

Proposition 33. The following holds true:

(i) For any isotropic convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ and any $\delta \in (0, \frac{1}{e})$

$$\left(\frac{1}{e} - \delta\right) L_K B^d \subseteq K_\delta \subseteq 17 \log\left(\frac{1}{\delta}\right) L_K B^d.$$

(ii) For any isotropic measure $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with a log-concave density

$$\left(\frac{1}{e} - \delta\right) L_P B^d \subseteq P_\delta \subseteq 17 \log\left(\frac{1}{\delta}\right) L_P B^d.$$

This proposition was proved by Milman and Pajor [133, Proposition in the Appendix], and re-stated by Fresen [57] who also gave the formulation in part (ii) for isotropic log-concave measures. Its further extension to centrally symmetric s-concave measures with $s > -\infty$ can be found in Bobkov [18, Theorem 5.1]. Part (i) of this proposition is a special case of more general relations between floating bodies and *p*-centroid bodies which can be found in [146, Theorem 2.2].

Proposition 33 has important implications for the theory of halfspace depth. By affine equivariance of the halfspace depth central regions P_{δ} , for any logconcave measure $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with expectation $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and a positive definite variance matrix $\Sigma \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$,

$$\left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon d_{\Sigma}(x,\mu) \le \left(\frac{1}{e} - \delta\right) L_P \right\} \subseteq P_{\delta}$$
$$\subseteq \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d \colon d_{\Sigma}(x,\mu) \le 17 \log\left(\frac{1}{\delta}\right) L_P \right\}$$

where d_{Σ} is the Mahalanobis distance from (5). Therefore, all central regions of the halfspace depth for $\delta < 1/e$ of log-concave measures are, up to a constant that depends only on δ and L_P , isomorphic to the Mahalanobis ellipsoids given by the covariance structure of P. This corroborates the findings from statistics, where it has been long observed that the depth central regions P_{δ} tend to take more "ellipsoidal" shapes than the level sets of the densities, see also Figures 3 and 4 above. Results in this section provide quantitative statements that support those claims.

Problem 11. Is it possible to state an analogue of Proposition 33 also for more general probability measures?

8. Characterization of distributions

One of the most important open questions connected with the halfspace depth is the halfspace depth characterization problem. It has been conjectured (e.g. [42, p. 2306] and [90, p. 1598]) that for each distribution $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ there exists a unique depth surface $\{hD(x; P): x \in \mathbb{R}^d\}$, i.e., that all probability distributions are determined by their halfspace depth. Such a result would be invaluable in statistics, as it would assert that just as the distribution function or the characteristic function of a random vector, also the halfspace depth could be used as a complete representative of any probability distribution.

Recently, the depth characterization conjecture was disproved in [138], where an example of two different probability distributions with the same depth at all points in \mathbb{R}^d , $d \geq 2$, was given. The example employs collections of different α -symmetric distributions with $\alpha \leq 1$ whose projections coincide along some directions.

Even though the general characterization conjecture turned out to be false, important partial positive results to the characterization problem can be found in the literature. Thanks to the results of Struyf and Rousseeuw [182], Koshevoy [92], and Hassairi and Regaieg [77] we know that if $P, Q \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are distributions whose supports are finite subsets of \mathbb{R}^d , then hD(x; P) = hD(x; Q) for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ implies P = Q. For non-atomic distributions, two results can be found in the literature in the papers of Hassairi and Regaieg [78], and Kong and Zuo [91]. In this section we show that the last two theorems are special cases of the following theorem.

Theorem 34. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ have contiguous support, and let $x_P \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be the halfspace median of P. Then the following are equivalent:

(**FB**₁) For each $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$ the floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ of P exists. (**FB**₂) (4) holds true, and

$$P(H^{-}) = \begin{cases} \sup_{x \in H} hD(x; P) & \text{for any } H \in \mathcal{H} \text{ with } x_P \notin H^{-}, \\ 1 - \sup_{x \in H} hD(x; P) & \text{for any } H \in \mathcal{H} \text{ with } x_P \in H^{-}. \end{cases}$$
(31)

Consequently, if (\mathbf{FB}_1) is true, there is no other probability distribution that satisfies (\mathbf{FB}_1) with the same depth at all points in \mathbb{R}^d .

Proof. Assume first that (\mathbf{FB}_1) is true. We show first that (4) holds. Suppose it does not hold. Then there exists a hyperplane H such that P(H) > 0. Without loss of generality we can assume that $P(H^-) \leq P(H^+)$. We put $\delta = P(H^-) - \frac{3}{4}P(H)$. Then $0 < \delta < 1/2$. We claim that the floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ does not exist, for if it does exist, then there is a supporting hyperplane H_1 to $P_{[\delta]}$ parallel to H such that $P(H_1^-) = \delta$. Note that $P(H^-) = \delta + \frac{3}{4}P(H) > \delta$, and it must be that $H_1^- \subsetneq H^-$. But, in that case, $P(H_1^-) \leq P(H^-) - P(H) < \delta$, a contradiction.

Take now any hyperplane $H \in \mathcal{H}$, and define $\psi(H^-) = \sup_{x \in H} hD(x; P)$. For any $x \in H$ we have

$$hD(x; P) = \inf \{ P(G^{-}) \colon G^{-} \in \mathcal{H}^{-}, x \in G \} \le P(H^{-})$$
(32)

since the halfspace $H^- \in \mathcal{H}^-$ belongs to the collection over which the infimum is taken. Because (32) is valid for any $x \in H$, $\psi(H^-) \leq P(H^-)$.

To prove the other inequality, assume that $\delta = P(H^-) > 0$. Otherwise, trivially $\psi(H^-) \ge P(H^-) = 0$. Further, it is possible to assume that $\delta \le 1/2$. If this is not the case, take $H^+ \in \mathcal{H}^-$, the closed halfspace complementary to H^- , and proceed with H^+ (note that in the latter case, we know by (4) that $P(H^+) \le 1/2$ and $P(H^+) + P(H^-) = 1$). We first treat the case $\delta < 1/2$. Because all floating bodies of P are assumed to exist and because $P(H^-) = \delta$, the hyperplane H supports the floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ of P. That is, there must exist a point $x_H \in H \cap P_{[\delta]}$. As $x_H \in P_{[\delta]} = P_{\delta} = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^d : hD(y; P) \ge \delta\}$,

$$P(H^-) = \delta \le hD(x_H; P) \le \sup_{x \in H} hD(x; P) = \psi(H^-).$$

Thus (31) holds for $\delta < 1/2$. By continuity, it also holds for $\delta = 1/2$. Hence (**FB**₁) implies that the probability of halfspaces is characterized by their depth as in (31).

For the opposite implication, assume that (\mathbf{FB}_2) is true and let $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$. Consider the depth level set P_{δ} . This is a convex compact set. From (31) with H^- such that $P(H^-) = 1/2$ and the continuity of the depth $hD(\cdot; P)$ guaranteed by (4), we see that P_{δ} must be non-empty for all $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$. Take any $H \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $P(H^-) = \delta$, and consider the family $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{H}$ of all hyperplanes parallel to H. Then P_{δ} must be supported by some $G \in \mathcal{G}$ with $G^- \subseteq H^-$ or $G^- \supseteq H^-$. If $P(G^-) = \delta' > \delta$, (\mathbf{FB}_2) cannot be true as $P_{\delta'} \subset P_{\delta}$ by the nestedness and convexity of the central regions, and the continuity of hD. Indeed, because G supports P_{δ} , for all $x \in G$ either $x \in \partial P_{\delta}$ or $x \notin P_{\delta}$. In both cases $hD(x; P) \leq \delta$, since, using the continuity of hD again, $hD(x; P) = \delta$ for any $x \in \partial P_{\delta}$. By (31) this means that we have $\delta' = P(G^-) = \sup_{x \in G} hD(x; P) \leq \delta$, a contradiction. If $\delta' \leq \delta$, then there must exist $x_0 \in G \cap P_{\delta}$. But then $\delta \leq hD(x_0; P) \leq P(G^-) = \delta' \leq \delta$, and necessarily $P(G^-) = \delta' = \delta$. Because P has contiguous support, this means that G = H, and P_{δ} is supported by H. As this is true for any $H \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $P(H^-) = \delta$, $P_{\delta} = P_{[\delta]}$, and $(\mathbf{FB}_2) \Longrightarrow (\mathbf{FB}_1)$.

The characterization of P follows from (\mathbf{FB}_2) by a theorem of Cramér and Wold [40], see also [16, p. 383].

Note that a further minor extension of Theorem 34 can be obtained if P is allowed to have a single atom at its halfspace median x_P , with obvious modifications to the statement and the proof of this theorem.

By Theorem 34 and Proposition 31 we obtain that all α -symmetric distributions with $\alpha > 1$, and their full-dimensional affine images, satisfy (**FB**₁). This array of examples complements the known examples of *s*-concave centrally symmetric measures with $s \geq -1$ from Theorem 30, for which (**FB**₁) is true. As far

as we know, there are no further examples of measures satisfying (\mathbf{FB}_1) known at this time.

To see that there exist distributions $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ that satisfy $(\mathbf{FB_1})$, but not the assumptions of Proposition 31, take $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ to be the uniform distribution on a square in \mathbb{R}^2 from Example 5. For P it is known [98, pp. 433– 434] that $(\mathbf{FB_1})$ is true, yet each floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ for $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$ contains four non-smooth points at its boundary, see also the left panel of Figure 3.

Condition (\mathbf{FB}_1) is, however, still rather strict. Not only does it impose (4) on P, but also it means that P must be halfspace symmetric. For (uniform measures on) convex bodies, this was noted by Meyer and Reisner [129, Lemma 4]. The next proposition extends that result to probability measures. Its proof follows closely the arguments of Meyer and Reisner [129, Lemma 4], and is omitted.

Proposition 35. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ have contiguous support. If $(\mathbf{FB_1})$ is true for P, then P must be halfspace symmetric.

Problem 12. Describe the collection of all probability measures $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ whose halfspace depth is unique, i.e. there is no $Q \neq P$ with hD(x;P) = hD(x;Q) for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Is the existence of the expectation EX for $X \sim P$ sufficient for the halfspace depth of P to be unique? Is the uniform distribution on a simplex in \mathbb{R}^d characterized by its halfspace depth?

Problem 13. If condition (\mathbf{FB}_1) is not satisfied, how can one reconstruct the probability content of all halfspaces $P(H^-)$ from the depth hD(x; P) for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ only?

8.1. Characterization theorem of Kong and Zuo (2010)

In [91, Theorem 3.2] it is shown that if, for $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with contiguous support,

for all $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$ the boundary of the central region P_{δ} is C^1 , (33)

and (4) holds, then (31) is true, and P is characterized by its halfspace depth. In Theorem 34 we provide a generalization of this result. Indeed, by Proposition 31 above, if (33) and (4) are true, then the floating body $P_{[\delta]}$ of P exists for all $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$, and Theorem 34 can be used.

8.2. Characterization theorem of Hassairi and Regaieg (2008)

Let us state a characterization result for the halfspace depth for absolutely continuous distributions that can be found in [78, Theorem 3.2]. For this, we define for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ the halfspace function

$$\phi_x \colon \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \to [0,1] \colon u \mapsto P\left(H^-_{u,\langle x,u\rangle}\right),$$

where $H^-_{u,\langle x,u\rangle} \in \mathcal{H}^-$ is the closed halfspace in \mathbb{R}^d whose outer normal is parallel to u, and $x \in H_{u,\langle x,u\rangle}$.

Theorem 36. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be as in Proposition 29, and suppose that

for all
$$x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$
, if ϕ_x has a local minimum at $u = u(x) \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$,
then $\phi_x(u) = hD(x; P)$. (34)

Then (31) holds true, and P is characterized by its halfspace depth.

In [78, Theorem 3.2], condition (34) is formulated in a slightly different manner in terms of derivatives of functions related to ϕ_x . It is easy to see that for P that satisfies the conditions from Proposition 29, (34) and the corresponding condition from [78] are equivalent.

If P satisfies (4), then for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ the function ϕ_x is continuous on \mathbb{S}^{d-1} [124, Proposition 4.5]. Thus, it must attain a global minimum over its domain. Condition (34) therefore means that there cannot exist any local minimum of ϕ_x that is not global.

Suppose for a moment that (4) is valid for P. By Theorem 36, (34) implies the characterization result (31) which is, by Theorem 34, equivalent with (**FB**₁). Therefore, given that (4) is true, Condition (34) implies (**FB**₁), and the characterization of Hassairi and Regaieg [78] is a special case of Theorem 34 above³.

8.3. Homothety conjecture

In convex geometry, the following open question, similar in nature to the depth characterization conjecture, was posed in [172]:

Let a convex body $K \in \mathcal{K}^d$ and one of its convex floating bodies K_δ be homothetic, i.e. $K_\delta = \lambda K + x$ for some $\lambda > 0$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Is then K necessarily an ellipsoid?

Schütt and Werner [172] showed that if K is homothetic to a sequence of its floating bodies K_{δ_n} with $\delta_n \to 0$, then K must be an ellipsoid. Stancu [180] demonstrated that for K with a sufficiently smooth boundary, K is homothetic to K_{δ} for a single small δ also implies that K is an ellipsoid. The latter result was later refined in [192].

Problem 14. Does the homothety conjecture hold true? More generally, which convex bodies are characterized by any of their convex floating bodies?

9. Conclusions and further perspectives

In this survey, we discussed little known relations of the concept of halfspace depth, studied extensively in statistics, and paradigms well known in functional

³Nonetheless, it must be noted that smoothness of the density of P is not sufficient for (34) to hold true (cf. [78, p. 2312]). To see this, consider the uniform distribution P on a triangle from Example 1. This distribution has a smooth density in the interior of Supp(P), yet $\Pi(P) = 4/9$, and $\sup_{x \in H} hD(x; P) \le 4/9 < 1/2$ for any $H \in \mathcal{H}$. Thus, the probability of halfspaces cannot be recovered as in (31), at least not for $H \in \mathcal{H}$ with $1/2 \ge P(H^-) > 4/9$. It is easy to see that (34) is violated for P, too.

analysis and geometry. In Section 4 we saw that the depth of the halfspace median is a particular example of a more general concept of measures of symmetry. In Sections 5 and 6 we focused on the floating body and its possible generalizations towards (probability) measures. These little explored junctions of mathematical statistics and geometry are, however, hardly limited only to the halfspace depth hD defined in finite-dimensional linear spaces \mathbb{R}^d . In this concluding section of our paper our intention is to outline, and properly refer to, a few further links between the statistics of depth functions, and current research in pure mathematics.

9.1. Depth in non-linear spaces

By directional data one understands data that live on the unit sphere \mathbb{S}^{d-1} of \mathbb{R}^d [121]. Each observation can be interpreted as a direction of a non-zero vector in \mathbb{R}^d . Such data appear quite naturally, and it is of great interest to find depth functions suitable also for this kind of observations. Several definitions of depth have been proposed for directional data [177, 106, 1, 99, 145]. The following depth, proposed by Small [177], is an analogue of the halfspace depth for directional data.

Definition. Let $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})$ and $x \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$. The angular halfspace depth (or angular Tukey depth) of x w.r.t. P is defined as

$$AhD(x; P) = \inf \left\{ P(H^{-}) \colon H \in \mathcal{H}_0, x \in H \right\},\$$

where \mathcal{H}_0 denotes the set of hyperplanes $H \in \mathcal{H}$ in \mathbb{R}^d such that $0 \in H$.

It is natural to consider the collection \mathcal{H}_0 in the definition of AhD, as $\mathcal{H}_0 \cap \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ is the collection of all closed hemispheres of \mathbb{S}^{d-1} . Therefore, it is not surprising that also for spherical convex bodies, concepts similar to floating bodies have been investigated. Recall that for $K \subset \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$, K is said to be *spherically convex* if the radial extension of K, given by

rad
$$K = \{\lambda x \colon x \in K, \lambda \ge 0\},\$$

is a convex set in \mathbb{R}^d . A closed spherically convex subset of \mathbb{S}^{d-1} such that the interior of rad K is nonempty is called a *spherical convex body*. Analogues of floating bodies and convex floating bodies for spherical convex bodies were studied by Besau and Werner [14].

Definition. For a spherical convex body $K \subset \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ and $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})$ uniformly distributed on K take $\delta \geq 0$. The *spherical convex floating body* of K is defined as

$$\bigcap_{H\in\mathcal{H}_0\colon P(H^-)\leq\delta}H^+.$$

Just as in Section 6 it is possible to define floating bodies, and convex floating bodies also for general probability measures on \mathbb{S}^{d-1} , and it is easy to see that

the spherical convex floating body coincides with the central regions of the angular halfspace depth for uniform distributions on spherical convex bodies. Some results in the spirit of those discussed in Section 5 can be obtained also for spherical convex floating bodies [14]. In another paper, Besau and Werner [15] provide extensions of those results also to certain Riemannian manifolds. Research in this direction in the statistics of data depth is still only in its beginnings [55].

9.2. Depth for infinite-dimensional data

In statistics, since the work of Liu and Singh [107] and Fraiman and Muniz [56], considerable attention has focused also on devising depth functions applicable to data from high-dimensional, and infinite-dimensional (functional) spaces. Direct applications of the halfspace depth are known to be inadequate [48], but many other depth functions that are suited for functional data can be found in the literature [43, 108, 137, 39, 36, 140, 142, 65]. In geometry, some advances that appear to be related are the floating functions [101] considered in Section 5.5 above. Solid connections between these two areas of research appear to be uncharted.

9.3. Centroid body and simplicial volume depth

Apart from the halfspace depth, the simplical depth, and the Mahalanobis depth mentioned above, there exists an abundance of other depth functions defined in \mathbb{R}^d in statistics. A comprehensive survey on some of those is [196], where, based on the ideas of Oja [144], also the following depth function can be found. Recall that by $[x_1, \ldots, x_{d+1}]$ we mean the closed convex hull of $x_1, \ldots, x_{d+1} \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Definition. Let $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $\operatorname{Var} X = \Sigma$ is a positive definite matrix and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. The simplicial volume depth (or Oja depth) of x w.r.t. P is defined as

$$svD(x;P) = \left(1 + E \frac{\operatorname{vol}_d\left([x, X_1, \dots, X_d]\right)}{\sqrt{\det \Sigma}}\right)^{-1},$$
(35)

where $X_1, \ldots, X_d \sim P$ are independent.

The factor $\sqrt{\det \Sigma}$ ensures the affine invariance of svD. Similarly as the Mahalanobis depth MD, also svD is not defined for all $P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, but only for distributions with finite second moments, and positive definite variance matrices.

For (a uniform distribution on) a compact (possibly non-convex) set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with $\operatorname{vol}_d(K) > 0$, a concept closely related to $x \mapsto \operatorname{vol}_d([x, X_1, \ldots, X_d])$, that is central in (35), is that of the centroid body of K. The *centroid body* of K is a convex body $Z \in \mathcal{K}^d$ defined via its support function (2)

$$h_Z(u) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}_d(K)} \int_K |\langle x, u \rangle| \, \mathrm{d} \, x.$$

If K is (centrally) symmetric around around the origin, ∂Z is the locus of centroids of all intersections of halfspaces $H^- \in \mathcal{H}^-$ such that $0 \in H$ with K. As discussed in [60, Section 9.1], this body was defined by Petty [148], but its earlier predecessors can be traced back to the work of Dupin [47]. The volume of the centroid body Z of K determines the simplicial volume depth svD of $0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with respect to the the uniform distribution on K. The next theorem can be found in Gardner [60, Theorem 9.1.5]. Extensions not listed here can be found in [148, 166]. For star bodies $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ a version of this theorem is given in [165, Section 10.8].

Theorem 37. Let $X \sim P \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be uniformly distributed on a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with $\operatorname{vol}_d(K) > 0$. Denote $\operatorname{Var} X = \Sigma$. Let Z_x be the centroid body of K - x. Then

$$svD(x;P) = \left(1 + \frac{2^d}{\operatorname{vol}_d(K)^d} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_d(Z_x)}{\sqrt{\det \Sigma}}\right)^{-1}$$

Centroid bodies have been the subject of numerous studies in geometry and functional analysis. We only refer here to [165, Section 10.8] and [27, Section 5.1] and the references therein for a comprehensive account of results that can be found in the literature on centroid bodies and their extensions.

Problem 15. Is it possible to extend Theorem 37 also to more general probability measures?

References

- AGOSTINELLI, C. and ROMANAZZI, M. (2013). Nonparametric analysis of directional data based on data depth. *Environ. Ecol. Stat.* **20** 253–270. MR3068658
- [2] ALEKSANDROV, A. D. (1939). Almost everywhere existence of the second differential of a convex function and some properties of convex surfaces connected with it. *Leningrad State Univ. Annals [Uchenye Zapiski] Math. Ser.* 6 3–35. MR0003051
- [3] ANDREWS, B. (1996). Contraction of convex hypersurfaces by their affine normal. J. Differential Geom. 43 207–230. MR1424425
- [4] ANDREWS, B. (1999). The affine curve-lengthening flow. J. Reine Angew. Math. 506 43–83. MR1665677
- [5] ARTSTEIN-AVIDAN, S., GIANNOPOULOS, A. and MILMAN, V. D. (2015). Asymptotic geometric analysis. Part I. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 202. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI. MR3331351
- [6] ARTSTEIN-AVIDAN, S., KLARTAG, B. and MILMAN, V. D. (2004). The Santaló point of a function, and a functional form of the Santaló inequality. *Mathematika* 51 33–48 (2005). MR2220210
- [7] ARTSTEIN-AVIDAN, S., KLARTAG, B., SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2012). Functional affine-isoperimetry and an inverse logarithmic Sobolev inequality. J. Funct. Anal. 262 4181–4204. MR2899992

- [8] BAI, Z.-D. and HE, X. (1999). Asymptotic distributions of the maximal depth estimators for regression and multivariate location. Ann. Statist. 27 1616–1637. MR1742502
- [9] BALL, K. (1986). Isometric problems in ℓ_p and sections of convex sets. PhD Dissertation, Cambridge.
- [10] BALL, K. (1988). Logarithmically concave functions and sections of convex sets in Rⁿ. Studia Math. 88 69–84. MR932007
- [11] BÁRÁNY, I. (1992). Random polytopes in smooth convex bodies. Mathematika 39 81–92. MR1176473
- [12] BÁRÁNY, I. and LARMAN, D. G. (1988). Convex bodies, economic cap coverings, random polytopes. *Mathematika* 35 274–291. MR986636
- [13] BESAU, F., SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2018). Flag numbers and floating bodies. Adv. Math. 338 912–952. MR3861719
- [14] BESAU, F. and WERNER, E. M. (2016). The spherical convex floating body. Adv. Math. 301 867–901. MR3539392
- [15] BESAU, F. and WERNER, E. M. (2018). The floating body in real space forms. J. Differential Geom. 110 187–220. MR3861810
- [16] BILLINGSLEY, P. (1995). Probability and measure, third ed. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York. A Wiley-Interscience Publication. MR1324786
- [17] BLASCHKE, W. (1923). Vorlesungen Über Differentialgeometrie II. Affine Differentialgeometrie. Springer, Berlin. MR1548296
- [18] BOBKOV, S. G. (2010). Convex bodies and norms associated to convex measures. Probab. Theory Related Fields 147 303–332. MR2594355
- [19] BORELL, C. (1974). Convex measures on locally convex spaces. Ark. Mat. 12 239–252. MR0388475
- [20] BÖRÖCZKY, K. J. (2000). Approximation of general smooth convex bodies. Adv. Math. 153 325–341. MR1770932
- [21] BÖRÖCZKY, K. J. (2010). Stability of the Blaschke-Santaló and the affine isoperimetric inequality. Adv. Math. 225 1914–1928. MR2680195
- [22] BÖRÖCZKY, K. J., FODOR, F. and HUG, D. (2010). The mean width of random polytopes circumscribed around a convex body. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 81 499–523. MR2603007
- [23] BORWEIN, J. M. and VANDERWERFF, J. D. (2010). Convex functions: constructions, characterizations and counterexamples. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications 109. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. MR2596822
- [24] BOSE, P., CARMI, P., HURTADO, F. and MORIN, P. (2011). A generalized Winternitz theorem. J. Geom. 100 29–35. MR2845275
- [25] BOURGAIN, J. (1991). On the distribution of polynomials on highdimensional convex sets. In *Geometric aspects of functional analysis* (1989–90). Lecture Notes in Math. 1469 127–137. Springer, Berlin. MR1122617
- [26] BOURGAIN, J. and MILMAN, V. D. (1987). New volume ratio properties for convex symmetric bodies in Rⁿ. Invent. Math. 88 319–340. MR880954
- [27] BRAZITIKOS, S., GIANNOPOULOS, A., VALETTAS, P. and VRITSIOU, B.-

H. (2014). Geometry of isotropic convex bodies. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs **196**. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI. MR3185453

- [28] BRUNEL, V.-E. (2019). Concentration of the empirical level sets of Tukey's halfspace depth. Probab. Theory Related Fields 173 1165–1196. MR3936153
- [29] BURR, M. A. and FABRIZIO, R. J. (2017). Uniform convergence rates for halfspace depth. *Statist. Probab. Lett.* **124** 33–40. MR3608209
- [30] BUSEMANN, H. and FELLER, W. (1936). Krümmungseigenschaften Konvexer Flächen. Acta Math. 66 1–47. MR1555408
- [31] CAGLAR, U., FRADELIZI, M., GUÉDON, O., LEHEC, J., SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2016). Functional versions of L_p -affine surface area and entropy inequalities. *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN* **4** 1223–1250. MR3493447
- [32] CAMBANIS, S., KEENER, R. and SIMONS, G. (1983). On α-symmetric multivariate distributions. J. Multivariate Anal. 13 213–233. MR705548
- [33] CAPLIN, A. and NALEBUFF, B. (1988). On 64%-majority rule. Econometrica 56 787–814. MR951758
- [34] CAPLIN, A. and NALEBUFF, B. (1991). Aggregation and social choice: a mean voter theorem. *Econometrica* **59** 1–23. MR1085582
- [35] CARRIZOSA, E. (1996). A characterization of halfspace depth. J. Multivariate Anal. 58 21–26. MR1408126
- [36] CHAKRABORTY, A. and CHAUDHURI, P. (2014). The spatial distribution in infinite dimensional spaces and related quantiles and depths. Ann. Statist. 42 1203–1231. MR3224286
- [37] CHEN, Z. and TYLER, D. E. (2002). The influence function and maximum bias of Tukey's median. Ann. Statist. 30 1737–1759. MR1969448
- [38] CHEN, Z. and TYLER, D. E. (2004). On the behavior of Tukey's depth and median under symmetric stable distributions. J. Statist. Plann. Inference 122 111–124. MR2057917
- [39] CLAESKENS, G., HUBERT, M., SLAETS, L. and VAKILI, K. (2014). Multivariate functional halfspace depth. J. Amer. Statist. Assoc. 109 411–423. MR3180573
- [40] CRAMÉR, H. and WOLD, H. (1936). Some theorems on distribution functions. J. London Math. Soc. S1-11 290. MR1574927
- [41] CROFT, H. T., FALCONER, K. J. and GUY, R. K. (1994). Unsolved problems in geometry. Problem Books in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York. MR1316393
- [42] CUESTA-ALBERTOS, J. A. and NIETO-REYES, A. (2008). The Tukey and the random Tukey depths characterize discrete distributions. J. Multivariate Anal. 99 2304–2311. MR2463390
- [43] CUEVAS, A. and FRAIMAN, R. (2009). On depth measures and dual statistics. A methodology for dealing with general data. J. Multivariate Anal. 100 753-766. MR2478196 (2010c:62126)
- [44] DONOHO, D. L. (1982). Breakdown properties of multivariate location estimators. Qualifying paper, Harvard University.

- [45] DONOHO, D. L. and GASKO, M. (1992). Breakdown properties of location estimates based on halfspace depth and projected outlyingness. Ann. Statist. 20 1803–1827. MR1193313 (94c:62056)
- [46] DÜMBGEN, L. (1992). Limit theorems for the simplicial depth. Statist. Probab. Lett. 14 119–128. MR1173409 (93m:60063)
- [47] DUPIN, C. (1822). Applications de géométrie et de méchanique. Bachelier, Paris.
- [48] DUTTA, S., GHOSH, A. K. and CHAUDHURI, P. (2011). Some intriguing properties of Tukey's half-space depth. *Bernoulli* 17 1420–1434. MR2854779 (2012k:62147)
- [49] DYCKERHOFF, R. (2004). Data depths satisfying the projection property. Allg. Stat. Arch. 88 163–190. MR2074729
- [50] DYCKERHOFF, R. (2018). Convergence of depths and depth-trimmed regions. arXiv preprint arXiv:1611.08721.
- [51] EINMAHL, J. H. J., LI, J. and LIU, R. Y. (2015). Bridging centrality and extremity: refining empirical data depth using extreme value statistics. *Ann. Statist.* **43** 2738–2765. MR3405610
- [52] FALCONER, K. J. (1983). Applications of a result on spherical integration to the theory of convex sets. Amer. Math. Monthly 90 690–693. MR723941
- [53] FANG, K. T., KOTZ, S. and NG, K. W. (1990). Symmetric multivariate and related distributions. Monographs on Statistics and Applied Probability 36. Chapman and Hall, Ltd., London. MR1071174
- [54] FRADELIZI, M. and MEYER, M. (2007). Some functional forms of Blaschke-Santaló inequality. *Math. Z.* 256 379–395. MR2289879
- [55] FRAIMAN, R., GAMBOA, F. and MORENO, L. (2019). Connecting pairwise geodesic spheres by depth: DCOPS. J. Multivariate Anal. 169 81–94. MR3875588
- [56] FRAIMAN, R. and MUNIZ, G. (2001). Trimmed means for functional data. *Test* **10** 419–440. MR1881149 (2002k:62056)
- [57] FRESEN, D. (2012). The floating body and the hyperplane conjecture. Arch. Math. (Basel) 98 389–397. MR2914355
- [58] FRESEN, D. (2013). A multivariate Gnedenko law of large numbers. Ann. Probab. 41 3051–3080. MR3127874
- [59] FUNK, P. (1915). Über eine geometrische Anwendung der Abelschen Integralgleichung. Math. Ann. 77 129–135. MR1511851
- [60] GARDNER, R. J. (2006). Geometric tomography, second ed. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications 58. Cambridge University Press, New York. MR2251886
- [61] GARDNER, R. J. and ZHANG, G. (1998). Affine inequalities and radial mean bodies. Amer. J. Math. 120 505–528. MR1623396
- [62] GHOSH, A. K. and CHAUDHURI, P. (2005). On maximum depth and related classifiers. Scand. J. Statist. 32 327–350. MR2188677
- [63] GIANNOPOULOS, A., PAOURIS, G. and VRITSIOU, B.-H. (2014). The isotropic position and the reverse Santaló inequality. *Israel J. Math.* 203 1–22. MR3273430
- [64] GIJBELS, I. and NAGY, S. (2016). On smoothness of Tukey depth con-

tours. Statistics **50** 1075–1085. MR3522389

- [65] GIJBELS, I. and NAGY, S. (2017). On a general definition of depth for functional data. *Statist. Sci.* **32** 630–639. MR3730526
- [66] GROEMER, H. (1996). Geometric applications of Fourier series and spherical harmonics. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications 61. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. MR1412143
- [67] GROEMER, H. (2000). Stability theorems for two measures of symmetry. Discrete Comput. Geom. 24 301–311. The Branko Grünbaum birthday issue. MR1758052
- [68] GROTE, J. and WERNER, E. M. (2018). Approximation of smooth convex bodies by random polytopes. *Electron. J. Probab.* 23, Paper No. 9, 21 pp. MR3771746
- [69] GRUBER, P. M. (1993). Aspects of approximation of convex bodies. In Handbook of convex geometry, Vol. A, B 319–345. North-Holland, Amsterdam. MR1242984
- [70] GRÜNBAUM, B. (1960). Partitions of mass-distributions and of convex bodies by hyperplanes. *Pacific J. Math.* 10 1257–1261. MR0124818
- [71] GRÜNBAUM, B. (1961). On some properties of convex sets. Colloq. Math. 8 39–42. MR0126212
- [72] GRÜNBAUM, B. (1963). Measures of symmetry for convex sets. In Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. VII 233–270. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I. MR0156259
- [73] HABERL, C. and PARAPATITS, L. (2014). The centro-affine Hadwiger theorem. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 27 685–705. MR3194492
- [74] HABERL, C. and SCHUSTER, F. E. (2009). General L_p affine isoperimetric inequalities. J. Differential Geom. 83 1–26. MR2545028
- [75] HAMMER, C. (1960). Volumes cut from convex bodies by planes. Unpublished preprint.
- [76] HAMPEL, F. R., RONCHETTI, E. M., ROUSSEEUW, P. J. and STA-HEL, W. A. (1986). Robust statistics: The approach based on influence functions. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics: Probability and Mathematical Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York. MR829458
- [77] HASSAIRI, A. and REGAIEG, O. (2007). On the Tukey depth of an atomic measure. Stat. Methodol. 4 244–249. MR2368148
- [78] HASSAIRI, A. and REGAIEG, O. (2008). On the Tukey depth of a continuous probability distribution. *Statist. Probab. Lett.* 78 2308–2313. MR2462666
- [79] HE, Y. and EINMAHL, J. H. J. (2017). Estimation of extreme depthbased quantile regions. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B. Stat. Methodol. 79 449– 461. MR3611754
- [80] HE, X. and WANG, G. (1997). Convergence of depth contours for multivariate datasets. Ann. Statist. 25 495–504. MR1439311
- [81] HOEHNER, S. D., SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2018). The surface area deviation of the Euclidean ball and a polytope. J. Theoret. Probab. 31 244–267. MR3769814

- [82] HUANG, H., SLOMKA, B. A. and WERNER, E. M. (2018). Ulam floating body. arXiv preprint arXiv:1803.08224.
- [83] HUBER, P. J. and RONCHETTI, E. M. (2009). Robust statistics, second ed. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ. MR2488795
- [84] HUG, D. (1996). Contributions to affine surface area. Manuscripta Math. 91 283–301. MR1416712
- [85] IVAKI, M. N. and STANCU, A. (2013). Volume preserving centro-affine normal flows. Comm. Anal. Geom. 21 671–685. MR3078952
- [86] HODGES JR., J. L. (1955). A bivariate sign test. Ann. Math. Statist. 26 523–527. MR0070921
- [87] KIM, J. (2000). Rate of convergence of depth contours: with application to a multivariate metrically trimmed mean. *Statist. Probab. Lett.* **49** 393– 400. MR1796484
- [88] KLARTAG, B. (2006). On convex perturbations with a bounded isotropic constant. *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 16 1274–1290. MR2276540
- [89] KOLDOBSKY, A. (2005). Fourier analysis in convex geometry. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 116. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI. MR2132704
- [90] KONG, L. and MIZERA, I. (2012). Quantile tomography: using quantiles with multivariate data. *Statist. Sinica* 22 1589–1610. MR3027100
- [91] KONG, L. and ZUO, Y. (2010). Smooth depth contours characterize the underlying distribution. J. Multivariate Anal. 101 2222–2226. MR2671212 (2011h:62204)
- [92] KOSHEVOY, G. A. (2002). The Tukey depth characterizes the atomic measure. J. Multivariate Anal. 83 360–364. MR1945958
- [93] KOSHEVOY, G. A. and MOSLER, K. (1997). Zonoid trimming for multivariate distributions. Ann. Statist. 25 1998–2017. MR1474078
- [94] KOSHEVOY, G. A. and MOSLER, K. (1998). Lift zonoids, random convex hulls and the variability of random vectors. *Bernoulli* 4 377–399. MR1653276
- [95] KUČMENT, P. A. (1972). On the question of the affine-invariant points of convex bodies. Optimizacija 8 48–51, 127. MR0350621
- [96] KUČMENT, P. A. (2016). On a problem concerning affine-invariant points of convex sets. arXiv preprint arXiv:1602.04377.
- [97] LANGE, T., MOSLER, K. and MOZHAROVSKYI, P. (2014). Fast nonparametric classification based on data depth. *Statist. Papers* 55 49–69. MR3152767
- [98] LEICHTWEISS, K. (1986). Zur Affinoberfläche konvexer Körper. Manuscripta Math. 56 429–464. MR860732
- [99] LEY, C., SABBAH, C. and VERDEBOUT, T. (2014). A new concept of quantiles for directional data and the angular Mahalanobis depth. *Elec*tron. J. Stat. 8 795–816. MR3217789
- [100] LI, J., CUESTA-ALBERTOS, J. A. and LIU, R. Y. (2012). DD-classifier: nonparametric classification procedure based on DD-plot. J. Amer. Statist. Assoc. 107 737–753. MR2980081

- [101] LI, B., SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2018). Floating functions. Israel J. Math. To appear. MR3960005
- [102] LIU, R. Y. (1988). On a notion of simplicial depth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85 1732–1734. MR930658
- [103] LIU, R. Y. (1990). On a notion of data depth based on random simplices. Ann. Statist. 18 405–414. MR1041400 (91d:62068)
- [104] LIU, R. Y. (1992). Data depth and multivariate rank tests. In L₁statistical analysis and related methods (Neuchâtel, 1992) 279–294. North-Holland, Amsterdam. MR1214839
- [105] LIU, R. Y., SERFLING, R. and SOUVAINE, D. L. (2006). Data depth: Robust multivariate analysis, computational geometry and applications. Papers from the workshop held at Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, May 14–16, 2003. American Mathematical Society, Providence. MR2343121
- [106] LIU, R. Y. and SINGH, K. (1992). Ordering directional data: concepts of data depth on circles and spheres. Ann. Statist. 20 1468–1484. MR1186260
- [107] LIU, R. Y. and SINGH, K. (1997). Notions of limiting P values based on data depth and bootstrap. J. Amer. Statist. Assoc. 92 266–277. MR1436115
- [108] LÓPEZ-PINTADO, S. and ROMO, J. (2009). On the concept of depth for functional data. J. Amer. Statist. Assoc. 104 718–734. MR2541590 (2011c:62163)
- [109] LUDWIG, M. (2010). General affine surface areas. Adv. Math. 224 2346– 2360. MR2652209
- [110] LUDWIG, M. and REITZNER, M. (2010). A classification of SL(n) invariant valuations. Ann. of Math. (2) 172 1219–1267. MR2680490
- [111] LUDWIG, M., SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2006). Approximation of the Euclidean ball by polytopes. *Studia Math.* **173** 1–18. MR2204459
- [112] LUTWAK, E. (1991). Extended affine surface area. Adv. Math. 85 39–68. MR1087796
- [113] LUTWAK, E. (1993). Selected affine isoperimetric inequalities. In Handbook of convex geometry, Vol. A, B 151–176. North-Holland, Amsterdam. MR1242979
- [114] LUTWAK, E. (1996). The Brunn-Minkowski-Firey theory. II. Affine and geominimal surface areas. Adv. Math. 118 244–294. MR1378681
- [115] LUTWAK, E. and OLIKER, V. (1995). On the regularity of solutions to a generalization of the Minkowski problem. J. Differential Geom. 41 227– 246. MR1316557
- [116] LUTWAK, E., YANG, D. and ZHANG, G. (2000). L_p affine isoperimetric inequalities. J. Differential Geom. 56 111–132. MR1863023
- [117] LUTWAK, E., YANG, D. and ZHANG, G. (2004). Moment-entropy inequalities. Ann. Probab. 32 757–774. MR2039942
- [118] LUTWAK, E. and ZHANG, G. (1997). Blaschke-Santaló inequalities. J. Differential Geom. 47 1–16. MR1601426
- [119] MAHALANOBIS, P. C. (1936). On the generalized distance in statis-

tics. Proceedings of the National Institute of Sciences of India 2 49–55. MR0392366

- [120] MANKIEWICZ, P. and SCHÜTT, C. (2001). On the Delone triangulation numbers. J. Approx. Theory 111 139–142. MR1840025
- [121] MARDIA, K. V. (1972). Statistics of directional data. Academic Press, London-New York. Probability and Mathematical Statistics, No. 13. MR0336854
- [122] MARONNA, R. A., MARTIN, R. D., YOHAI, V. J. and SALIBIÁN-BARRERA, M. (2019). Robust statistics: Theory and methods (with R), second ed. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ. MR3839299
- [123] MASSÉ, J.-C. (2002). Asymptotics for the Tukey median. J. Multivariate Anal. 81 286–300. MR1906382
- [124] MASSÉ, J.-C. (2004). Asymptotics for the Tukey depth process, with an application to a multivariate trimmed mean. *Bernoulli* 10 397–419. MR2061438
- [125] MASSÉ, J.-C. (2009). Multivariate trimmed means based on the Tukey depth. J. Stat. Plan. Inference 139 366–384. MR2474012
- [126] MASSÉ, J.-C. and THEODORESCU, R. (1994). Halfplane trimming for bivariate distributions. J. Multivariate Anal. 48 188–202. MR1261798 (95m:60033)
- [127] MATOUŠEK, J. (2002). Lectures on discrete geometry. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 212. Springer-Verlag, New York. MR1899299
- [128] MCCLURE, D. E. and VITALE, R. A. (1975). Polygonal approximation of plane convex bodies. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 51 326–358. MR0385714
- [129] MEYER, M. and REISNER, S. (1991a). A geometric property of the boundary of symmetric convex bodies and convexity of flotation surfaces. *Geom. Dedicata* **37** 327–337. MR1094695
- [130] MEYER, M. and REISNER, S. (1991b). Characterizations of affinelyrotation-invariant log-concave measures by section-centroid location. In *Geometric aspects of functional analysis (1989–90). Lecture Notes in Math.* 1469 145–152. Springer, Berlin. MR1122619
- [131] MEYER, M., SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2015). Affine invariant points. Israel J. Math. 208 163–192. MR3416917
- [132] MEYER, M. and WERNER, E. M. (2000). On the *p*-affine surface area. Adv. Math. 152 288–313. MR1764106
- [133] MILMAN, V. D. and PAJOR, A. (1989). Isotropic position and inertia ellipsoids and zonoids of the unit ball of a normed n-dimensional space. In Geometric aspects of functional analysis (1987–88). Lecture Notes in Math. 1376 64–104. Springer, Berlin. MR1008717
- [134] MIZERA, I. and VOLAUF, M. (2002). Continuity of halfspace depth contours and maximum depth estimators: diagnostics of depth-related methods. J. Multivariate Anal. 83 365–388. MR1945959 (2003i:62092)
- [135] MORDHORST, O. (2017). New results on affine invariant points. Israel J. Math. 219 529–548. MR3649598
- [136] MOSLER, K. (2002). Multivariate dispersion, central regions and depth:

The lift zonoid approach. Lecture Notes in Statistics **165**. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. MR1913862 (2003k:60038)

- [137] MOSLER, K. (2013). Depth statistics. In Robustness and complex data structures (C. Becker, R. Fried and S. Kuhnt, eds.) 17–34. Springer, Heidelberg. MR3135871
- [138] NAGY, S. (2019). Halfspace depth does not characterize probability distributions. *Statist. Papers.* To appear.
- [139] NAGY, S., GIJBELS, I., OMELKA, M. and HLUBINKA, D. (2016). Integrated depth for functional data: statistical properties and consistency. *ESAIM Probab. Stat.* **20** 95–130. MR3528619
- [140] NARISETTY, N. N. and NAIR, V. N. (2016). Extremal depth for functional data and applications. J. Amer. Statist. Assoc. 111 1705–1714. MR3601729
- [141] NEUMANN, B. H. (1945). On an invariant of plane regions and mass distributions. J. London Math. Soc. 20 226–237. MR0017564
- [142] NIETO-REYES, A. and BATTEY, H. (2016). A topologically valid definition of depth for functional data. *Statist. Sci.* **31** 61–79. MR3458593
- [143] NOLAN, D. (1992). Asymptotics for multivariate trimming. Stochastic Process. Appl. 42 157–169. MR1172513
- [144] OJA, H. (1983). Descriptive statistics for multivariate distributions. Statist. Probab. Lett. 1 327–332. MR721446
- [145] PANDOLFO, G., PAINDAVEINE, D. and PORZIO, G. (2018). Distancebased depths for directional data. *Canad. J. Statist.* 46 593–609. MR3902616
- [146] PAOURIS, G. and WERNER, E. M. (2012). Relative entropy of cone measures and L_p centroid bodies. *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3)* **104** 253–286. MR2880241
- [147] PATÁKOVÁ, Z., TANCER, M. and WAGNER, U. (2018). Private communication.
- [148] PETTY, C. M. (1961). Centroid surfaces. Pacific J. Math. 11 1535–1547. MR0133733
- [149] POKOTYLO, O., MOZHAROVSKYI, P., DYCKERHOFF, R. and NAGY, S. (2017). ddalpha: Depth-based classification and calculation of data depth. R package version 1.3.1.1.
- [150] RADO, R. (1946). A theorem on general measure. J. London Math. Soc. 21 291–300 (1947). MR0021962
- [151] REITZNER, M. (2002). Random points on the boundary of smooth convex bodies. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 354 2243–2278. MR1885651
- [152] REITZNER, M. (2005). The combinatorial structure of random polytopes. Adv. Math. 191 178–208. MR2102847
- [153] RÉNYI, A. and SULANKE, R. (1963). Uber die konvexe Hülle von n zufällig gewählten Punkten. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 2 75–84 (1963). MR0156262
- [154] RÉNYI, A. and SULANKE, R. (1964). Über die konvexe Hülle von n zufällig gewählten Punkten. II. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 3 138–147 (1964). MR0169139

- [155] ROMANAZZI, M. (2001). Influence function of halfspace depth. J. Multivariate Anal. 77 138–161. MR1838717
- [156] ROMANAZZI, M. (2002). Perturbation properties of depth regions. In Statistical data analysis based on the L_1 -norm and related methods (Neuchâtel, 2002). Stat. Ind. Technol. 301–312. Birkhäuser, Basel. MR2001324
- [157] ROUSSEEUW, P. J. and HUBERT, M. (1999). Regression depth. J. Amer. Statist. Assoc. 94 388–433. With discussion and a reply by the authors and Stefan van Aelst. MR1702314
- [158] ROUSSEEUW, P. J. and HUBERT, M. (2018). Computation of robust statistics: depth, median, and related measures. In *Handbook of discrete* and computational geometry, third ed. (J. E. Goodman, J. O'Rourke and C. D. Tóth, eds.). Discrete Mathematics and its Applications (Boca Raton) 1539–1552. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL. MR3793131
- [159] ROUSSEEUW, P. J. and LEROY, A. M. (1987). Robust regression and outlier detection. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics: Applied Probability and Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York. MR914792
- [160] ROUSSEEUW, P. J. and RUTS, I. (1999). The depth function of a population distribution. *Metrika* 49 213–244. MR1731769 (2001d:62053)
- [161] ROUSSEEUW, P. J. and STRUYF, A. (2004). Characterizing angular symmetry and regression symmetry. J. Stat. Plan. Inference 122 161–173. MR2057920 (2005g:62094)
- [162] SANTALÓ, L. A. (1949). An affine invariant for convex bodies of ndimensional space. Portugaliae Math. 8 155–161. MR0039293
- [163] SCHNEIDER, R. (1970a). Über eine Integralgleichung in der Theorie der konvexen Körper. Math. Nachr. 44 55–75. MR0275286
- [164] SCHNEIDER, R. (1970b). Functional equations connected with rotations and their geometric applications. *Enseignement Math.* (2) 16 297–305 (1971). MR0287438
- [165] SCHNEIDER, R. (2014). Convex bodies: the Brunn-Minkowski theory, expanded ed. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications 151. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. MR3155183
- [166] SCHNEIDER, R. and WEIL, W. (1983). Zonoids and related topics. In Convexity and its applications 296–317. Birkhäuser, Basel. MR731116
- [167] SCHÜTT, C. (1991). The convex floating body and polyhedral approximation. Israel J. Math. 73 65–77. MR1119928
- [168] SCHÜTT, C. (1994). Random polytopes and affine surface area. Math. Nachr. 170 227–249. MR1302377
- [169] SCHÜTT, C. (1999). Floating body, illumination body, and polytopal approximation. In *Convex geometric analysis (Berkeley, CA, 1996). Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ.* **34** 203–229. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge. MR1665593
- [170] SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (1990). The convex floating body. Math. Scand. 66 275–290. MR1075144
- [171] SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (1992). The convex floating body of

almost polygonal bodies. Geom. Dedicata 44 169–188. MR1187640

- [172] SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (1994). Homothetic floating bodies. Geom. Dedicata 49 335–348. MR1270561
- [173] SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2003). Polytopes with vertices chosen randomly from the boundary of a convex body. In *Geometric aspects* of functional analysis. Lecture Notes in Math. 1807 241–422. Springer, Berlin. MR2083401
- [174] SCHÜTT, C. and WERNER, E. M. (2004). Surface bodies and p-affine surface area. Adv. Math. 187 98–145. MR2074173
- [175] SERFLING, R. (2006a). Depth functions in nonparametric multivariate inference. In Data depth: robust multivariate analysis, computational geometry and applications. DIMACS Ser. Discrete Math. Theoret. Comput. Sci. 72 1–16. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI. MR2343109
- [176] SERFLING, R. (2006b). Multivariate symmetry and asymmetry. Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences, Second Edition 8 5338-5345.
- [177] SMALL, C. G. (1987). Measures of centrality for multivariate and directional distributions. *Canad. J. Statist.* 15 31–39. MR887986
- [178] SMALL, C. G. (1997). Multidimensional medians arising from geodesics on graphs. Ann. Statist. 25 478–494. MR1439310
- [179] STANCU, A. (2003). On the number of solutions to the discrete two-dimensional L_0 -Minkowski problem. Adv. Math. **180** 290–323. MR2019226
- [180] STANCU, A. (2006). The floating body problem. Bull. London Math. Soc. 38 839–846. MR2268369
- [181] STEINHAUS, H. (1955). Quelques applications des principes topologiques à la géométrie des corps convexes. Fund. Math. 41 284–290. MR0068234
- [182] STRUYF, A. and ROUSSEEUW, P. J. (1999). Halfspace depth and regression depth characterize the empirical distribution. J. Multivariate Anal. 69 135–153. MR1701410
- [183] TANCER, M. (2018). Private communication.
- [184] TOTH, G. (2015). Measures of symmetry for convex sets and stability. Universitext. Springer, Cham. MR3410930
- [185] TRUDINGER, N. S. and WANG, X.-J. (2005). The affine Plateau problem. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 18 253–289. MR2137978
- [186] TUKEY, J. W. (1975). Mathematics and the picturing of data. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Vancouver, B. C., 1974), Vol. 2 523–531. Canad. Math. Congress, Montreal, Que. MR0426989
- [187] WERNER, E. M. (1996). The illumination bodies of a simplex. Discrete Comput. Geom. 15 297–306. MR1380396
- [188] WERNER, E. M. (2002). The *p*-affine surface area and geometric interpretations. *Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo (2) Suppl.* **70**, part II 367–382. IV International Conference in "Stochastic Geometry, Convex Bodies, Empirical Measures & Applications to Engineering Science", Vol. II (Tropea, 2001). MR1962608
- [189] WERNER, E. M. (2012). Rényi divergence and L_p -affine surface area for

convex bodies. Adv. Math. 230 1040-1059. MR2921171

- [190] WERNER, E. M. (2013). f-divergence for convex bodies. In Asymptotic geometric analysis. Fields Inst. Commun. 68 381–395. Springer, New York. MR3076001
- [191] WERNER, E. M. and YE, D. (2008). New L_p affine isoperimetric inequalities. Adv. Math. **218** 762–780. MR2414321
- [192] WERNER, E. M. and YE, D. (2011). On the homothety conjecture. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 60 1–20. MR2952407
- [193] WIEACKER, J. A. (1963). Einige Probleme der polyedrischen Approximation. Diplomarbeit, Freiburg im Breisgau.
- [194] ZUO, Y., CUI, H. and HE, X. (2004). On the Stahel-Donoho estimator and depth-weighted means of multivariate data. Ann. Statist. 32 167–188. MR2051003
- [195] ZUO, Y. and HE, X. (2006). On the limiting distributions of multivariate depth-based rank sum statistics and related tests. Ann. Statist. 34 2879– 2896. MR2329471
- [196] ZUO, Y. and SERFLING, R. (2000a). General notions of statistical depth function. Ann. Statist. 28 461–482. MR1790005 (2001h:62097)
- [197] ZUO, Y. and SERFLING, R. (2000b). On the performance of some robust nonparametric location measures relative to a general notion of multivariate symmetry. J. Stat. Plan. Inference 84 55–79. MR1747497 (2001f:62036)
- [198] ZUO, Y. and SERFLING, R. (2000c). Structural properties and convergence results for contours of sample statistical depth functions. Ann. Statist. 28 483–499. MR1790006